

METHYLATION PANEL Support Guide



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Overview of Methylation	3
Genova's Approach to Methylation Testing	3
Interpretation-At-A-Glance Summary	4
Functional Pillars	4
Methylation Status Ratios	5
SAM/SAH Ratio	5
Methylation Balance Ratio	5
Met/Sulf Balance (Methylation/Transsulfuration	
Balance) Ratio	6
Biomarker Layout	7
Pathway Layout	8
Biomarker Review	9
Methyl Group Donors	9
S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)	9
Methionine	. 10
Choline	. 11
Betaine	. 11
Serine	. 12
Methyl Group Metabolites	.13
S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH)	. 13
Homocysteine	. 14
Dimethylglycine (DMG)	. 16
Sarcosine	. 17
Glycine	. 18
Transsulfuration Metabolites	.19
Cystathionine	. 20
Cysteine	. 20
Taurine	. 21
Glutathione (GSH)	. 22
Ratios	.23
SAM/SAH Ratio	. 23
Methylation Balance Ratio	. 23
Met/Sulf Balance Ratio	. 24
Betaine/Choline Ratio	. 25
Folate Cycle	. 26
Folate, Folic Acid, and Folinic Acid	. 26
DNA Methylation	. 28
Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs)	. 28
Betaine-homocysteine S-methyltransferase	
(BHMT)	. 29
Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT)	. 30
Cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS)	. 31
Glycine N-methyltransferase (GNMT)	. 32
Methionine adenosyltransferase 1A (MAT1A)	. 33
Methionine synthase (MTR)	. 34
Methionine synthase reductase (MTRR)	. 35
Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) .	. 36
Serine hydroxymethyltransferase 1 (SHMT1)	. 37
Methylation Pathway Chart	. 38
References	. 39

METHYLATION PANEL

Overview of Methylation

Methylation is a biochemical process in which methyl groups (CH3) are transferred or donated between molecules, thereby changing their structure and function. This happens billions of times per second in every cell throughout the body.¹ The methylation cycle is dependent on amino acids, vitamin cofactors, and minerals obtained from the diet to ensure adequate function of this biochemical pathway.²

The incredibly vast processes in the body that depend upon methylation are what ultimately make functional testing for methylation impairment a valuable clinical tool. Some of these processes include, but are not limited to:

- creatine production for skeletal muscle contraction
- DNA and RNA synthesis
- gene regulation (epigenetics)
- hormone regulation and detoxification
- energy production
- cell membrane repair
- fat metabolism
- myelination
- immune function
- neurotransmitter production and metabolism³⁻⁷
- vascular endothelial function and nitric oxide production⁸

To keep these processes functioning optimally, there is a necessary balance between many different biochemical pathways. What is termed the "methylation cycle" involves an interplay between folate metabolism, methionine metabolism, and homocysteine transsulfuration.⁸ The body continually adapts these interconnected pathways in order to maintain homeostasis.⁹ However, key amino acid deficiencies, a lack of vitamin and mineral cofactors, genetic enzymatic predispositions, and a wide array of oxidative stressors can impact multiple enzymes leading to a disruption in a patient's overall methylation status.¹⁰⁻¹²

GENOVA'S APPROACH TO METHYLATION TESTING

Genova Diagnostics' **Methylation Panel** is an innovative assessment designed to offer insight into the methylation pathway, also known as 1-carbon metabolism. By measuring the functional analytes involved in the methylation cycle, as well as genetic predispositions for altered enzymatic activity, this profile can help clinicians design more targeted treatment strategies to optimize patient outcomes.

Genova's Methylation Panel is both a genotypic and phenotypic assessment. Methylation metabolites are measured in plasma, and genetic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are analyzed using a buccal swab. Using this method, clinicians are able to go beyond only looking at genetic predisposition (SNPs) or only measuring single biomarkers. There is no gold standard test available to assess a patient's overall methylation status. However, the markers chosen for Genova's Methylation Panel are integral to these pathways and are well represented in literature.^{2,8,13-15}

Methylation Panel Biomarkers
Betaine
Choline
Cystathionine
Cysteine
Dimethylglycine (DMG)
Glutathione (GSH)
Glycine
Homocysteine
Methionine
S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH)
S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)
Sarcosine
Serine
Taurine
Add-on Genomics
BHMT G724A
CBS C699T
COMT V158M
GNMT C1289T
MAT1A D18777A
MTHFR A1298C
MTHFR C677T
MTR A2756G
MTRR A66G
SHMT1 C1240T

Interpretation-At-A-Glance Summary

Similar to other comprehensive Genova laboratory reports, Methylation Panel results are displayed on the front page as a convenient report-of-findings. This report synthesis provides clinicians with a quick overall methylation status assessment and separates the various aspects of the report into key clinical areas.

The page is divided into two main sections: 1) Functional Pillars, and 2) Methylation Status Ratios.



FUNCTIONAL PILLARS

The functional pillars help separate the biomarkers into distinct categories: **Methylation Biomarkers, Genetic Polymorphisms, and Transsulfuration Biomarkers.** The methylation and transsulfuration pillars capture abnormal biomarkers from page 2 and use an algorithm to provide a suspected degree of clinical impact. The algorithm takes into account the severity of each biomarker alongside each biomarker's clinical relevance to generate an overall pillar score. This is then displayed as color-coded icons depicted as either green, yellow, or red. These colors signify either a low, medium, or high degree of suspected clinical impact, respectively. The **Genomic Polymorphism** pillar provides the results of genetic SNPs, which are an add-on to the Methylation Panel. The enzymes are categorized based on whether polymorphisms (SNPs) result in either an upregulation or downregulation in that enzyme's activity. Each enzyme evaluated will have two results representing each inherited allele (one from each parent). A [+] indicates that a genetic polymorphism was detected and a [-] indicates that no polymorphism was detected (also known as a "wild-type"). Having two mutations is referred to as a "homozygous positive" genotype, one mutation is referred to as "heterozygous," and no mutations is referred to as "homozygous negative" genotype.

METHYLATION STATUS RATIOS

Underneath the functional pillars on the first page is an overview assessment of Methylation Status. The three indicators in this section include the SAM/SAH Ratio, the Methylation Balance Ratio, and the Met/Sulf Balance Ratio. Unlike the SAM/SAH ratio, the Methylation Balance Ratio and Met/Sulf Ratio are completely unique to Genova's Methylation Panel. These novel algorithms represent a broader attempt to capture functional disturbances within the methylation and transsulfuration pathways by comparing multiple analytes.



SAM/SAH Ratio

The SAM/SAH ratio is commonly referred to as the "Methylation Index" in the literature and has welldocumented clinical associations.¹⁴ Global methylation is dependent on two key factors: adequate SAM supply and SAH removal. The SAM/SAH ratio has been proposed to indicate the likelihood of hyper- or hypo-methylation.¹⁶ Overall, the SAM/SAH ratio is under tight homeostatic control.¹⁷ SAM levels remain fairly stable due to de novo synthesis and feedback mechanisms.¹⁸ Given this, alterations in the methylation index are more likely a result of SAH fluctuations.

As will be discussed later, SAH is a potent inhibitor of methyltransferase reactions, which is likely why SAH elevations and a low methylation index are correlated with global hypo-methylation.¹⁴ Furthermore, poor homocysteine clearance contributes significantly to SAH elevations which provides insight into the relationship between these two analytes and cardiovascular disease.¹⁹⁻²¹

It is important to note that while the Methylation Panel does not directly measure DNA methylation, the SAM/SAH ratio has been shown to correlate with DNA methylation.²²

Methylation Balance Ratio

The Methylation Balance Ratio compares four methylated metabolites (including SAM) to four un-methylated metabolites (including SAH). Therefore, the Methylation Balance Ratio can be thought of as an expanded SAM/ SAH ratio.

The four methyl group donors that make up the numerator of the equation are SAM, methionine, betaine, and serine. The four un-methylated metabolites are SAH, homocysteine, DMG, and sarcosine.

Methylation Balance Ratio

Methylated Metabolites	Un-Methylated Metabolites			
SAM	SAH			
Methionine	Homocysteine			
Betaine	DMG			
Serine	Sarcosine			

The clinical utility of the Methylation Balance Ratio is that it represents a potential way to detect subtle methylation imbalance prior to alterations in the SAM/SAH ratio. This approach is still novel and is based on biochemical pathway analysis. However, early Genova data analysis of this biomarker has demonstrated its ability to distinguish a healthy cohort from an unqualified cohort. Genova will continue to conduct research on this novel biomarker's clinical application.

Met/Sulf Balance (Methylation/Transsulfuration Balance) Ratio

The second calculated ratio is called the 'Met/Sulf Balance' and it compares analytes between the methylation pathway and transsulfuration pathway. Biomarker levels are compared proportionately allowing potential insight into which of the pathways is being favored.

Met/Sulf Balance Ratio

	Methylation Metabolites	Transsulfuration Metabolites
	SAM	Cystathionine
	SAH	Cysteine
	Methionine	Taurine
	Homocysteine	Glutathione
_		

The four analytes from the main methylation pathway that are used in the Met/Sulf Balance are SAM, SAH, methionine, and homocysteine. The four analytes from the transsulfuration pathway are cystathionine, cysteine, taurine, and glutathione.

There is a relative balance that exists between the methylation and transsulfuration pathways. This balance ensures that adequate levels of glutathione are produced to counteract oxidative stress and that an adequate amount of SAM is made for methylation reactions.

As with the Methylation Balance ratio, the Met/Sulf ratio is a novel biochemical pathway analysis. Early Genova data analysis of this biomarker has demonstrated its ability to distinguish a healthy cohort from an unqualified cohort. Genova will continue to conduct research on this novel biomarker's clinical application.

Biomarker Layout

The second page of the report consists of the biomarker results. Biomarkers are groups based on their significance to the Methylation pathway:

- Ratios
- Methyl Group Donors
- Methyl Group Metabolites
- Transsulfuration Metabolites

Patient results are listed in the first column and are accompanied by an "L" or "H" flag if the results fall outside of the reference range.

Biomarkers that are outside the reference range will appear under its corresponding pillar on the first page with a red triangle pointed either upward or downward, depending on whether the biomarker is low or high. Biomarkers that are high-normal or low-normal (as determined by falling outside 1 standard deviation) will appear on the pillar with a yellow triangle rather than a red triangle.

3534 Methylation Panel - Plasma & Whole Blood									
Methodology: LCMSMS & Colorimetric	Results micromo ^l	I/L	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	+	5th	Reference Range
		Me	ethylation	Capaci	ty				
Ratios									
1. Methylation Index (SAM/SAH Ratio)	3.3		•	+	-	+			2.2-6.4
2. Methylation Balance Ratio	1.04		├ ◆	+	+	+			1.03-1.20
3. Met/Sulf Balance Ratio	0.63			+	+	+		 	0.55-0.64
4. Betaine/Choline Ratio	5.2			+	+	♦			2.6-7.7
Methyl Group Donors									
5. S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)	137		-	+	+	+		 	65-150
6. Methionine	30			+	+	+			23-38
7. Choline	12.0			-	+	+		•	5.2-13.0
8. Betaine	62			+	+	+		•	21-71
9. Serine	125			-	-	♦		-	91-161
Methyl Group Metabolites									
10. S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH)	41		-	-	-			•	16-41
11. Homocysteine †	12.0	н						+	3.7-10.4
12. Dimethylglycine (DMG)	5.0			+	+	+		•	1.6-5.0
13. Sarcosine	6,485			+	+			•	3,670-6,743
14. Glycine	317			+	+		•		181-440
Transsulfuration Metabolites									
15. Cystathionine	321			+	+	+		♦	74-369 nanomol/L
16. Cyst(e)ine	439	н		+	+	+		•	271-392
17. Taurine	104			+	+	-	•		50-139
18. Glutathione †	836				+				>=669

Pathway Layout

On page three of the report, the patient's biomarker results and genomic results are displayed together in a pathway format. This allows clinicians to visualize a patient's unique biochemistry based on their individual genomic and phenotypic results.

Genomic results appear next to the enzymes that are evaluated and utilize the same positive/negative designations as on the first page. Any abnormal biomarkers appear with either a yellow or red border indicating either a borderline or abnormal finding, respectively.



Biomarker Layout METHYL GROUP DONORS

S-adenosylmethionine (SAM)



SAM is found in every cell of the human body and serves an important biologic function as the sole methyl donor in more than 100 different reactions catalyzed by methyltransferase enzymes. It also plays a key role in activating the transsulfuration pathway, resulting in glutathione synthesis and energy production.²³

S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) is formed from the essential amino acid methionine and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) using the enzyme methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT). In literature, SAM is sometimes referred to as AdoMet. SAM levels are an important feedback mechanism throughout the body. For example, SAM inhibits methylenetetrahydrofolate (MTHFR), thereby reducing the availability of 5-MTHF as a methyl donor.¹⁷ SAM also has been shown to downregulate the BHMT enzyme leading to another form of feedback inhibition while upregulating the CBS transsulfuration enzyme. SAM levels in the body depend on the availability of the essential amino acid methionine and the enzyme MAT. Diet alone cannot provide adequate SAM; therefore, the body must also rely on de novo synthesis. The liver tightly regulates SAM levels.¹⁸ However, it has been shown, that plasma SAM levels increase in proportion to adiposity and obesity. Methionine and SAH levels are not associated with fat mass, suggesting increased conversion of methionine to SAM in obese individuals. The mechanism of this increased conversion is still being studied.²⁴⁻²⁷

Since March 1999, SAM-e has been available in the US as an over-the-counter nutraceutical supplement.²³ SAM-e supplementation may be considered when methionine is low, or when the enzymatic conversion from methionine is dysfunctional. SAM-e has been shown to improve patient outcomes in conditions such as cancer, cognitive decline, arthritis, depression, and liver disease.²⁸⁻³³ Treatment with SAM-e has been shown to be as effective as prescription tricyclic antidepressants. SAM-e was also as effective as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs to treat osteoarthritis, and has been successful in treating some liver conditions.³⁴ SAM-e is generally well tolerated, and no serious side effects have been observed.35 However, there have been rare case reports of bipolar patients developing manic episodes due to SAM-e supplementation.36

S-ADENOSYLMETHIONINE (SAM)

	LOW	HIGH
•	Low methionine due to	 Supplementation with
	decreased protein intake,	SAM-e
	or malabsorption/	• High caloric intake, high
	maldigestion	BMI ²⁴
•	MAT SNP or lack of	
	cofactors (ATP, Mg, K)	

Methionine



Methionine is an essential amino acid that plays an important role in the methylation cycle. Methionine is obtained from dietary intake or through homocysteine remethylation. Methionine's dietary sources include eggs, fish, meats, Brazil nuts, and other plant seeds.³⁷

As discussed previously, methionine is converted to the body's main methyl donor, S-adenosylmethionine (SAM). This conversion requires the enzyme methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT).

Methionine elevations are most commonly caused by increased dietary intake.³⁷ However, increases can also be due to abnormalities within the methylation cycle itself producing a passive methionine elevation.

Genetic SNPs for several methylation and transsulfuration enzymes, or the lack of necessary vitamin and mineral cofactors, can alter methionine's metabolism. For example, a nutritional cofactor deficiency (magnesium/ potassium), ATP depletion, or a SNP in the MAT enzyme, can downregulate the conversion to SAM and may lead to elevated methionine.³⁸ Vitamin B₆ deficiency, a cofactor for the downstream enzyme responsible for homocysteine transsulfuration (cystathionine betasynthase-CBS), can result in excess homocysteine re-methylation back to methionine, thus increasing methionine.¹

Mild elevations in methionine do not cause serious adverse clinical effects. There is literature regarding CNS abnormalities seen with excessive elevations, but this is rare and more commonly seen with inborn errors of metabolism (MATI/III deficiency also known as Mudd's disease).³⁹

A dietary methionine deficiency (low intake or malabsorption/maldigestion) can affect the methylation cycle, given its critical role. Increasing methionine dietary sources, methionine supplementation, or methylated product supplementation can mitigate the adverse impact.⁴⁰

LOW	HIGH			
Decreased protein intakeProtein malabsorption/	 Increased dietary intake or supplementation (i.e. eggs, fish, meat, 			
maldigestion	 Brazil nuts, and other plant seeds)³⁷ MAT SNP or lack of cofactors (ATP, Mg, K) Alcohol, oxidative stress affecting MAT^{41,42} 			

METHIONINE



Choline is an essential dietary nutrient found in many foods such as meat, eggs, soybeans, and wheat germ. Choline can be made endogenously, but dietary intake is needed to prevent deficiency.⁴³

Choline is a critical cell membrane component. It also helps to ensure the structural integrity and signaling functions within the cell. Choline is a precursor for the important neurotransmitter acetylcholine and the membrane phospholipids phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin.⁴³

In the methylation cycle, choline is oxidized to form betaine, which can then be used as a methyl donor. Because choline and betaine are involved in the remethylation of Hcy back to methionine, they form a backup-pathway that is particularly favored in folate deficiency.⁴⁴

Elevated choline levels are associated with key components of metabolic syndrome (dysglycemia, dyslipidemia, and BMI). Betaine showed an opposite relationship. This may suggest a disruption of mitochondrial choline oxidation to betaine as part of the mitochondrial dysfunction seen in metabolic syndrome.⁴⁴ **Betaine**, also known as **trimethylglycine**, is an amino acid - so named because it was first discovered as a beet byproduct. It is also found in wheat, shellfish, and spinach. As stated previously, it can be produced via choline oxidation. Betaine is a major methyl donor and acts as an osmolyte in the cell to regulate cell volume.¹⁷

Betaine donates a methyl group, using the enzyme betaine homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT), to re-methylate homocysteine back to methionine.⁴⁵ The product of this methyl transfer is dimethylglycine (DMG), which is then available for further methyl donation.

In folate deficiency, this betaine pathway compensates to maintain Hcy re-methylation. Folate-deficient patients have elevated serum DMG levels, as would be expected with the increased betaine use as a methyl source.⁴⁵

Because the betaine pathway is a salvage pathway to remethylate Hcy, betaine is a significant determinant of plasma Hcy levels, particularly in folate deficiency.¹⁷ Betaine supplementation lowers Hcy after methionine load.¹⁷

Betaine deficiencies have many clinical implications, including metabolic syndrome, diabetes, vascular disease, liver diseases, cancer, and fetal abnormalities.⁴⁵ Not surprisingly, supplementation with betaine has been shown to be beneficial in many conditions associated with poor methylation status and higher homocysteine, such as metabolic syndrome.

BETAINE

LOW	HIGH
 Decreased dietary choline intake 	 Supplementation High dietary betaine (i.e. beets, wheat, shellfish, and spinach) or choline intake (see above)⁴³

CHOLINE

LOW	HIGH
 Low intake Malabsorption/ maldigestion 	 Dietary intake (i.e. meat, eggs, soybeans, and wheat germ)⁴³ Upregulation of the betaine/ choline backup pathway

Serine



Serine is a nonessential amino acid used in protein biosynthesis. In the folate cycle, glycine and serine are interconverted by the enzyme serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT). Glycine accepts a methyl donor from 5-10 MTHF and becomes serine; therefore, serine is methylated glycine.⁴⁶ These methyltransferase reactions and interconversions are readily reversible depending on the needs of the folate cycle.⁴⁷

Glycine and serine's interconversion is important in mitochondrial glycolysis. Glycolysis provides ATP and energy in most cell types. Serine-glycine biosynthesis is a component in glycolysis-diverting pathways and nucleotide biosynthesis. This is clinically important, and specifically evident, in cancer. Cancer cells use glycolysis to sustain anabolism for tumor growth. Genetic and functional evidence suggests that abnormalities in the glycine-serine pathway represent an essential process in cancer pathogenesis by promoting energy production and promoting defective purine synthesis.⁴⁷ Serine is also a cofactor for the enzyme cystathionine- β synthase making its availability important for glutathione production.



Serine can be supplied from foods or synthesized by the body from glycine and other cofactors. Serine is found in soybeans, nuts, eggs, lentils, shellfish, and meats. Dietary serine is not fully converted to glycine; therefore, supplementation has little value, though is not harmful.⁴⁸

The clinical relevance of abnormal plasma serine is still the subject of ongoing research. However, it plays a role in the methylation balance ratio owing to the fact that it is a major methyl donor relevant to the folate pathway. Therefore, it assists in the flux of methyl groups between folate and methylation cycles.

SERINE

	LOW	HIGH
•	Decreased dietary	• High dietary intake (i.e.
	intake	soybeans, nuts, eggs, lentils,
•	Malabsorption/	shellfish, and meats)
	maldigestion	

METHYL GROUP METABOLITES

S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH)



S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) is the end-product of methylation reactions in the body. SAM ultimately donates a methyl group for methylation (DNA, detoxification, etc.) resulting in SAH formation. SAH is also the metabolic precursor of all the homocysteine (Hcy) produced in the body. In literature, SAH is sometimes referred to as AdoHcy.

SAH is hydrolyzed to homocysteine; however, this reaction is readily reversible, and the dynamics strongly favor SAH synthesis. Therefore, any elevation in homocysteine will lead to an increase in SAH.⁴⁹ In spite of the reversible nature of this reaction, efficient cellular removal of homocysteine allows sustained SAH metabolism and homocysteine production.⁵⁰ SAH accumulation is implicated in many chronic clinical conditions.^{20,21,51} SAH is a potent feedback inhibitor in methyltransferase reactions. SAH's pathogenicity lies in its binding affinity for, and inhibition of, methyltransferase enzymes within many tissue components, including DNA, RNA, phospholipids, and others. One example of SAH accumulation is in vascular cell phenotypic changes and atherosclerotic disease development.⁵² Therefore, plasma SAH levels have been shown to be a more sensitive marker for clinical cardiovascular disease, renal disease, and Alzheimer's disease than plasma homocysteine.^{20,21,51-54}

Methylation reactions are ultimately dependent on SAH removal.^{49,55} Genetic SNPs, or nutritional deficiencies that hinder Hcy or adenosine metabolism, can induce SAH accumulation and subsequent hypomethylation defects, which are implicated in a variety of diseases, as previously outlined.^{50,56} Nutritional therapies that encourage Hcy metabolism (i.e. folate, B₁₂, betaine, choline) may passively lower SAH levels.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹

S-ADENOSYLHOMOCYSTEINE (SAH)

LOW	HIGH
 Unknown clinical significance 	 ACHY deficiency or need for Vitamin B₃ cofactor⁶⁰
 Lack of SAM/ methyl donors 	 Elevated Hcy⁴⁹

Homocysteine



Homocysteine (Hcy) is not a classic amino acid found in dietary protein. Homocysteine's only source in humans is the demethylation of s-adenosylmethionine (SAM).

Homocysteine is a major branch point in the methylation pathway. It can be metabolized via two pathways: degraded irreversibly through the transsulfuration pathway or re-methylated back to methionine. These two pathways are greatly affected by vitamin and mineral cofactor availability and enzymatic SNPs.⁸

Transsulfuration is the main route for irreversible Hcy disposal. Transsulfuration begins when Hcy is converted to cystathionine, using the cystathionine β -synthase enzyme (CBS). This reaction requires nutrient cofactors, such as vitamin B₆ and iron.

Alternatively, Hcy can be re-methylated back to methionine.⁶¹ Two distinct routes exist for Hcy remethylation. The first reaction is dependent on folate and vitamin B₁₂. The second route for Hcy remethylation is independent of folate, but requires betaine. The betaine pathway for Hcy remethylation is a salvage pathway when folate metabolism abnormalities are present or in folate deficiency.⁸ Under normal conditions, the body will remethylate Hcy several times before allowing irreversible transsulfuration.⁶² Whereas SAM-dependent methylation occurs in nearly all tissues, the transsulfuration pathway and Hcy remethylation occur primarily in the liver and kidneys.⁶³

Hcy intracellular concentration is under tight control. As mentioned above, SAH accumulation must be avoided as it can inhibit all methylation reactions. Because of AHCY's reversible nature, it is mandatory that intracellular Hcy concentrations are kept within strict limits. Optimal Hcy concentrations in cells are maintained or re-established through folate-dependent remethylation. Whenever the cellular capacity to metabolize Hcy is exceeded, this amino acid will be exported to the extracellular space until intracellular levels are normalized. This results in elevated plasma Hcy levels. Exceptions are liver and kidney cells, where Hcy can enter the transsulfuration pathway.

As alluded to above, several factors can affect Hcy metabolism causing hyperhomocysteinemia. These include B-vitamin deficiencies, impaired renal excretion, advanced age, sex (male), smoking, alcohol, and genetic enzyme deficiencies.⁶¹

Elevated homocysteine levels have many clinical implications.

- Hyperhomocysteinemia is regarded as a risk factor for non-coronary atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. Elevated homocysteine enhances vascular smooth-muscle cell proliferation, increases platelet aggregation, and acts on the coagulation cascade and fibrinolysis, causing normal endothelium to become more thrombotic. The mechanism may be related to elevations in SAH, due to the reversible nature of Hcy formation.⁶¹ SAH has been shown to be a more sensitive marker in many diseases as previously outlined.^{20,21}
- Diabetes, both type 1 and type 2, initially causes hypohomocysteinemia, due to renal hyperperfusion early in the diabetic nephropathy disease process. This progresses to hyperhomocysteinemia as renal function becomes compromised.^{61,64}
- Elevated homocysteine levels have also been implicated in gastrointestinal disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease and colon cancer.^{61,65} Hyperhomocysteinemia may be partially due to nutrient malabsorption (methyl donor and B-vitamin deficiency). Subsequently, elevated Hcy has been shown to induce inflammatory cytokines and contribute to disease progression.⁶⁵

- Homocysteine can impair bone health by interfering with osteoclast activity. The increased Hcy impairs the cellular and molecular mechanism of bone marrowderived osteoclasts by causing imbalance between phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation of various protein kinases that modulate bone cell remodeling.⁶⁶
- Homocysteinemia contributes to neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases) and mood disorders.⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ Elevated Hcy increases CNS phosphorylated tau leading to increased neurofibrillary tangle formation, seen in Alzheimer's dementia. ⁷⁰ Hyperhomocysteinemia related to mood disorders may be multifactorial. Elevated Hcy causes elevations in SAH, which interferes with many methyltransferase reactions involved in neurotransmitter synthesis and metabolism. Hcy may also have direct neurotoxic effects. Research is ongoing regarding the exact mechanisms regarding Hcy and psychiatric disorders.^{71,72}

Dietary supplementation with folate, vitamin B₁₂, and SAM has been shown to effectively lower plasma homocysteine levels and improve outcomes.^{61,67,73} The clinical implications associated with low homocysteine levels are not well represented in literature. Furthermore, there is no consensus on what constitutes a 'low level' or if it is something that needs correcting.

However, because Hcy is used to make glutathione and is remethylated to maintain methionine levels, the theoretical importance of low Hcy exists. Without Hcy, glutathione production is compromised. Excessive oxidative stress may accelerate the transsulfuration pathway toward glutathione production, which can lower Hcy. A SNP in the CBS enzyme accelerates homocysteine transsulfuration, which may result in a low Hcy. Many 'methylation experts' and key opinion leaders teach that low plasma homocysteine leads to disease and can be cancer-producing; therefore it should be corrected. Many recommend protein and sulfur-containing foods, as well as evaluating for excessive oxidative stress and decreasing methyl support. There is currently no literature that has looked at correcting low plasma homocysteine.

Literature is evolving to include low Hcy implications; however, the only literature-based clinical correlation currently available is an association with peripheral neuropathy.⁷⁴ There are a few animal studies looking for implications, physiologic impacts, and treatment strategies to correct hypohomocysteinemia, but currently no human studies exist.^{75,76}

As a final point, when referring to Hcy, the terms 'homocysteine' and 'homocystine' are used interchangeably. However, the reduced sulfhydryl form is 'homocysteine,' while the oxidized disulfide form is 'homocysteine.' The composite of both forms are routinely described by the term 'homocysteine.⁷⁷ Most conventional laboratories that offer homocysteine measurement are actually measuring a total of homocystine, homocysteine, and SAH. To note, Genova's Methylation Panel measures SAH and homocysteine as separate clinically significant entities. Homocystine (an oxidized form of homocysteine) is not measured by Genova. SAH and homocysteine, though direct comparisons have not yet been evaluated by Genova.

HOMOCYSTEINE

LOW	HIGH
 Unknown clinical significance May be a sign of over-methylation, though literature not available CBS SNP in the presence of oxidative stress or inflammation^{78,79} AHCY deficiency (lack of vitamin B₃)⁶⁰ 	 Vitamin B₆ or iron deficiency (CBS enzyme cofactors)⁸⁰ Enzymatic deficiency in MTR/MTRR/BHMT^{11,17,81} Folate deficiency with low choline intake⁴⁴ Alcohol⁸² Tobacco⁸³

Dimethylglycine (DMG)



The amino acid derivative **dimethylglycine (DMG)** is produced when betaine (trimethylglycine) donates a methyl group to homocysteine for re-methylation back to methionine. This methyl donation is mediated by the enzyme betaine homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT). Elevations in DMG act as a negative feedback by inhibiting this enzymatic conversion.¹⁷

Clinically, DMG elevations may indicate an increase in activity of the BHMT "salvage-pathway." Therefore, high DMG may reflect the need for additional folate, vitamin B_{12} , and zinc.

DMG has been marketed safely as a nutritional supplement since 1974. It was used in the Soviet Union in the 1960's as part of a formula to benefit athletic performance.⁸⁴ Dietary sources include cereal grains, seeds, beans and liver. Intake and supplementation with DMG plays an important role in keeping Hcy levels stable and providing methyl donors.⁸⁴

Because it contains two methyl groups for donation, therapeutic interventions with DMG have been successful in many conditions including autism, hyperlipidemia, chronic fatigue syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus, and cardiovascular disease.⁸⁴

DIMETHYLGLYCINE (DMG)

LOW	HIGH
 Decreased choline/betaine intake Malabsorption/maldigestion Zinc deficiency (cofactor BHMT)⁸⁵ 	 Supplementation with DMG or Betaine BHMT SNP^{17,86,87}

Sarcosine



Sarcosine is an amino acid made when SAM is conjugated with glycine by the glycine-Nmethyltransferase (GNMT) enzyme. It can also be made by catabolism of DMG (see previous section). There are many dietary sources of sarcosine including eggs, legumes, nuts, and meats.⁸⁸ Sarcosine is also available as an over-the-counter supplement, and it is widely used in cosmetic formulations (toothpaste, creams, and soaps) and detergents.⁸⁸

In the methylation cycle, sarcosine is created by the GNMT enzyme, which functions to control SAM excess. Disposal of excess SAM is seen in excess methyl donor supplementation, or SAM elevation due to adiposity/ obesity. Some clinicians use sarcosine elevation as a marker of 'excess methyl supplementation' or 'overmethylation.' Currently, there is no literature to support this hypothesis, but rather it is based on physiology.⁸⁹

Sarcosine can also be produced through the breakdown of DMG. Both sarcosine and dimethylglycine have pharmacological actions in the central nervous system.⁹⁰

Sarcosine is a natural glycine transport inhibitor in the CNS, enhancing N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. NMDA synaptic receptors are not only important for basic CNS functions (breathing, motor function), but also learning, memory, and neuroplasticity. Decreased NMDA function results in cognitive defects, and overstimulation causes excitotoxicity.⁹¹ Abnormalities in these receptors are implicated in many diseases and targeted for pharmacologic therapy.⁹² Sarcosine has been shown to be a co-agonist for NMDA receptors. For this reason, there are many studies evaluating sarcosine as an adjunct treatment for psychiatric diseases, such as schizophrenia, which is characterized by decreased NMDA function. In addition, using sarcosine to enhance NMDA function can improve depression-like behaviors.93 Since DMG is essentially sarcosine with an extra methyl group, research shows that they have similar effects.⁹⁰

Some studies have evaluated urinary and serum sarcosine's use as a prostate cancer progression marker; however, the data is mixed.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ These studies are based on nonspecific metabolomic profiling, which followed random metabolite elevation patterns. But, as noted, literature is mixed regarding whether this translates to clinical practice.

Sarcosine has no known toxicity, as evidenced by the lack of phenotypic expression of inborn errors of sarcosine metabolism.⁹⁷

LOW	HIGH
Unknown clinical significance	 Betaine, DMG supplementation^{89,98} Dietary intake (i.e. eggs, legumes, nuts, and meats) and environmental sources (i.e. toothpaste, creams, and soaps)⁸⁸ Folate deficiency (increases use of betaine backup pathway and needed as cofactor in the mitochondrial enzyme sarcosine dehydrogenase used to convert sarcosine to glycine)⁸⁹ SAM-e supplementation⁸⁹ Consider over-methylation

SARCOSINE

Glycine



Glycine is a nonessential amino acid with many important physiologic functions. It is one of three amino acids that make up glutathione. Glycine's dietary sources include meat, fish, legumes, and gelatins.

Glycine is a major collagen and elastin component, which are the most abundant proteins in the body. Like taurine, it is an amino acid necessary for bile acid conjugation; therefore, it plays a key role in lipid digestion and absorption.⁹⁹ Glycine is the precursor to various important metabolites such as porphyrins, purines, heme, and creatine. It acts both as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS (via its interaction with strychnine-sensitive glycine receptors), and as an excitatory neurotransmitter on N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors.⁹³ Glycine has anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and cytoprotective roles in all tissues.⁹⁹

As mentioned previously, glycine accepts a methyl group from SAM to form sarcosine, using the enzyme glycine-N-methyltransferase (GNMT); therefore, sarcosine is methylated glycine. This conversion functions to control SAM excess, as is seen in excess methyl donor supplementation, SAM elevations due to adiposity/ obesity and general over-methylation.¹⁰⁰

In the folate cycle, glycine and serine are interconverted by the enzyme serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT). Glycine accepts a methyl donor from 5-10 MTHF and becomes serine; therefore, serine is methylated glycine. These methyltransferase reactions and interconversions are readily reversible depending on the needs of the folate cycle to synthesize purines.⁴⁷

Glycine can also be generated from choline, betaine, dimethylglycine, and sarcosine using the sarcosine dehydrogenase enzyme.² This reaction is not outlined on the methylation pathway chart.



ameliorate metabolic disorders in patients with obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, ischemia-reperfusion injuries, inflammatory diseases, and cancers.⁹⁹ Because of glycine's excitatory effects on CNS NMDA receptors, research regarding the treatment of psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia, using glycine transport antagonists have shown great promise.⁹³

Oral glycine can boost tissue levels of glutathione, especially with concurrent NAC and/or lipoic acid. Because glutathione levels decline during the aging process, supplementing with glycine can impact elderly patients with low protein intake.¹⁰¹

GLYCINE LOW	HIGH
Decreased intake	• Dietary intake (i.e. meat,
 Potentially over- 	fish, legumes, and
methylation, excessive	gelatins ⁾⁹⁹
methyl supplementation	 Supplementation
	 GNMT SNP or cofactor
	deficiency ¹⁰²
	SHMT SNP or cofactor
	deficiency (vitamin B ₆ ,
	iron)47

TRANSSULFURATION METABOLITES

Transsulfuration is a cellular biochemical pathway which connects methylation, energy production, and glutathione biosynthesis. Transsulfuration occurs when a sulfur group is transferred to various molecules which ultimately ends with glutathione synthesis. This process is upregulated when needed such as when the body is under increased oxidative stress. Alternatively, transsulfuration will contribute to energy production when glutathione is not in high demand.



Cystathionine

Transsulfuration is the main route for irreversible homocysteine disposal, and begins by replacing a serine hydroxyl group with a sulfhydryl group to form cystathionine, using the cystathionine β -synthase enzyme (CBS). This reaction requires nutrient cofactors such as vitamin B₆ and iron.

Cystathionine is a dipeptide which is then converted to cysteine using the enzyme cystathionine gammalyase (CTH). Currently, there is no known source or physiologic function for cystathionine other than serving as a transsulfuration intermediate. Some literature suggests that cystathionine may exert protection against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced tissue damage and cell death, but studies are sparse.¹⁰³

Because cystathionine is an intermediate of the transsulfuration pathway, elevation of this biomarker may indicate a backup of the transsulfuration pathway. Conversion of cystathionine to glutathione requires necessary cofactors, such as vitamin B₆, zinc, glycine, and magnesium. Therefore, transient elevations of this metabolite may indicate increased need for these cofactors.

Cysteine

Cysteine is a nonessential sulfur-containing amino acid. It is obtained from the diet and is also endogenously made from cystathionine. Dietary cysteine sources include poultry, eggs, beef, and whole grains.¹⁰⁶

Cysteine is an important glutathione component. Recent studies provide convincing data to support the view that cysteine is the limiting amino acid for glutathione synthesis in humans.¹⁰⁷ This conversion requires the enzyme glutathione synthetase (GSS). Cysteine can alternatively be converted to taurine (another amino acid) and the organic acid pyruvate, which are used in the mitochondrial citric acid cycle and/or excreted in the urine.¹⁰⁸

Cysteine metabolism can assist in the production of either glutathione or taurine. Lower plasma cysteine levels favor its utilization in glutathione formation during oxidative stress, given the importance of glutathione. Conversely, high levels of cysteine in the absence of oxidative stress favor its metabolism towards pyruvate and taurine.¹⁰⁹

CYSTATHIONINE

LOW	HIGH
 Vitamin B₆ cofactor need for the CBS enzyme⁸⁰ 	 CBS SNP^{78,79} Elevated SAM which directly upregulates CBS enzyme¹⁷ DMG, Betaine supplementation¹⁷ High oxidative stress or inflammation¹⁰⁴ Vitamin B₆ cofactor need for CTH enzyme¹⁰⁵

CYSTEINE

LOW	HIGH
• Vitamin B ₆ cofactor need for the CBS and CTH enzymes ⁸⁰	 CBS SNP^{78,79} Elevated SAM which directly upregulates CBS enzyme¹⁷ High oxidative stress or inflammation¹⁰⁴ Zinc cofactor need for GSS enzyme

Taurine



Taurine differs from other amino acids because a sulfur group replaces the carboxyl group of what would be the non-essential amino acid, β -alanine. It takes part in biochemical reactions and is not fully incorporated into proteins. In most tissues, it remains a free amino acid. Taurine's highest concentration is in muscle, platelets, and the central nervous system. Taurine is mainly obtained via dietary sources (dairy, shellfish, turkey, energy drinks), but can also come from sulfur amino acid metabolism (methionine and cysteine).^{110,111} It has been proposed that taurine acts as an antioxidant, intracellular osmolyte, membrane stabilizer, and a neurotransmitter.¹¹²

In the CNS, taurine is second only to glutamate in abundance. Taurine is extensively involved in neurological activities, (calming neural excitability, cerebellar functional maintenance, and motor behavior modulation), through interaction with dopaminergic, adrenergic, serotonergic, and cholinergic receptors and through glutamate.^{112,113}

In cardiovascular disease, taurine's benefits are multifactorial. Because taurine's main physiologic role is in bile acid conjugation in the liver, it has been demonstrated that taurine is capable of reducing plasma LDL, total lipid concentration, and visceral fat in diabetic, obese patients.¹¹³ Taurine has been shown to be a protector of endothelial structure and function after exposure to inflammatory cells, their mediators, or other chemicals.¹¹³ Taurine is thought to be involved in cell volume regulation and intracellular free calcium concentration modulation. Because of these effects, experimental evidence shows promise for taurine therapy in preventing cardiac damage during bypass surgery, heart transplantation and myocardial infarction. Moreover, severe taurine extravasation from cardiomyocytes during an ischemia-reperfusion insult may increase ventricular remodeling and heart failure risk.114

Recent work has revealed taurine's action in the retina as a photoreceptor cell promoter.⁴ The human fetus has no ability to synthesize taurine. Taurine is found in breast milk, but it is also routinely added to infant formulas.⁴

Although taurine is very beneficial, it is often unnecessary to supplement. Dietary intake and sulfur amino metabolism are usually more than adequate to meet the body's needs. Newborns, patients with restricted diets, or patients with various diseases may be depleted in taurine and benefit from supplementation.

TAURINE

LOW	HIGH
 High oxidative stress¹⁰⁹ Elevated GSH requirement¹⁰⁹ Poor dietary intake, malabsorption/ maldigestion¹¹⁵ 	 Dietary intake (i.e. energy drinks, dairy, shellfish, and turkey)^{111,115} CBS SNP in absence of oxidative stress or inflammation, or adequate GSH levels¹¹⁶
maldigestion	levels ¹¹⁶

Glutathione (GSH)



Glutathione (GSH) is a tripeptide comprised of three amino acids (cysteine, glycine, and glutamic acid). Glutathione is the body's most potent intracellular antioxidant. It exists intracellularly in either an oxidized or reduced state.

GSH acts as an antioxidant, free radical scavenger, and detoxifying agent. Excessive formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), including hydrogen peroxide (H2O2), is toxic to the cell. Hence, the metabolism of these free radicals are critical, and they are tightly controlled.¹¹⁷

Availability of the amino acid cysteine is known to be rate-limiting for glutathione synthesis, and it is widely known that cysteine supplementation (in the form of N-acetylcysteine) can increase GSH levels. Recent literature has also suggested that adequate glycine levels are critical in maintaining glutathione levels, and glycine availability may modulate the production of glutathione.¹⁰¹

Glutathione's antioxidant function is accomplished largely by GSH peroxidase-catalyzed reactions. GSH neutralizes hydrogen peroxide and lipid peroxide, resulting in water and alcohol. By accepting a free radical electron, GSH is then oxidized. GSH continues to donate and accept electrons, forming a redox cycle to counter free radicals.¹¹⁸



Glutathione is also involved in phase II detoxification by conjugating hormones, toxins, and xenobiotics to make them water soluble for excretion.¹¹⁹

Nutritional deficiencies in GSH precursors can result in low GSH. Genetic polymorphisms (SNPs) can also affect the production of GSH. Without adequate GSH levels, oxidative stress and free radicals contribute to aging and disease. GSH deficiency and problems with GSH synthesis have been implicated in many diseases such as cancer, neuropsychiatric dysfunction, Parkinson's disease, HIV, liver disease, and cystic fibrosis.¹¹⁷

There is a transient increase in GSH plasma levels after intravenous supplementation and oral GSH ingestion, which may be useful under oxidative stress to counter free radical damage.¹²⁰ There are many foods which contain significant GSH sources including, but not limited to, asparagus, avocado, watermelon, ham, and pork.¹²¹

GSH inclusion in oral over-the-counter supplements may be of limited value, since the reduced state will not be maintained when exposed to normal atmospheric conditions and room temperature. Liposomal GSH has been shown to be an excellent alternative to raise GSH levels.^{122,123} Additionally, increasing amino acid dietary intake and supplementation with sulfur-containing products (N-acetyl cysteine) and foods (cruciferous vegetables, such as asparagus, broccoli, cauliflower, Brussels sprouts) will support GSH synthesis.¹¹⁷ The latter requires a healthy gastrointestinal ecosystem.

GLUTATHIONE (GSH)

LOW	HIGH
 Decreased Hcy Decreased GSH precursors (cysteine, glycine, glutamine)¹⁰⁴ Increased phase two conjugation in detox pathway¹⁰⁴ 	 Dietary intake of amino acid precursors (cysteine, glycine, glutamine) Supplementation CBS SNP in the presence of oxidative stress or inflammation^{78,79} Inability to convert oxidized to reduced GSH (making excess due to inability to reduce it for use)¹¹⁸

RATIOS

SAM/SAH Ratio

The SAM/SAH ratio is resistant to fluctuations in independent nutrients, given the interconnectedness of the pathways. SAM remains fairly stable due to de novo synthesis and the liver's tight control over SAM levels. Therefore, is it more likely that SAH variability will lead to alterations in the methylation index.⁵⁷

Methylation reactions become compromised with a decreased SAM/SAH ratio and as SAH levels become elevated.⁶³ SAM/SAH ratio abnormalities should be addressed by ensuring adequate dietary methyl donor levels (i.e. methionine, SAM-e) and nutritional cofactors required for clearance of SAH and homocysteine (i.e. B₆, B₁₂, and folate).

It is important to note that while the Methylation Panel does not directly measure DNA methylation, the SAM/SAH ratio has been shown to correlate with DNA methylation. Many environmental and lifestyle factors have been shown to affect DNA methylation which can turn on/off gene expression. Exposure to tobacco smoke, arsenic, benzene, radiation, lead, cadmium, nickel and asbestos are all tied to DNA methylation defects.^{124,125} Obesity, lack of physical activity, and shift work have also been shown to alter DNA and histone methylation, and thereby gene expression.¹²⁵ Chronic alcohol use is another pertinent lifestyle factor to evaluate as it can cause malabsorption of key B-vitamins necessary for methylation.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷

- Elevated SAM/SAH Ratio (SAM elevation)
 - Potential Over-methylation: Review genetic markers, such as BHMT, that could lead to higher SAM levels¹²⁸
 - » Review nutritional supplements that could be contributing to high SAM²³
 - High Protein Intake³⁷
 - High BMI: Elevated SAM has been correlated to higher BMI, however the degree of impact to SAH is unknown.
- Low SAM/SAH Ratio (SAH elevation)
 - Check SAH and Homocysteine Levels: If elevated, consider nutritional methylation support:
 - » Vitamins B₁₂
 - » Vitamin $B_6^{129,130}$
 - » Folate
 - » Zinc
 - » Other methylation support may be considered as well, especially with low levels of betaine and choline.

Methylation Balance Ratio

The clinical utility of the **Methylation Balance Ratio** is that it represents a potential way to detect methylation imbalance prior to alterations in the SAM/SAH ratio. As previously mentioned, the SAM/SAH ratio is resistant to fluctuations due to multiple feedback mechanisms and backup pathways. Therefore, measuring the metabolites of these backup pathways may provide earlier insight into subtle fluctuations in methylation balance. This approach is still novel and is based solely on biochemical pathway analysis. However, early Genova data analysis of this biomarker has demonstrated its ability to distinguish a healthy cohort from an unqualified cohort. Genova will continue to conduct ongoing research on this novel biomarker's clinical application.

- More Methylation Group Donors
 - Potential Over-methylation: Review genetic markers, such as BHMT, that could lead to higher SAM levels
 - » Review nutritional supplements that could be contributing to high SAM, methionine, betaine or serine
 - High Protein Intake
- More Unmethylated Metabolites
 - Check SAH and Homocysteine Levels: If elevated, consider nutritional methylation support:
 - » Vitamin B₁₂
 - » Vitamin B₆^{129,130}
 - » Folate
 - » Zinc
 - » Other methylation support may be considered as well, especially with low levels of betaine and choline.

Met/Sulf Balance Ratio

There is a relative balance that exists between the methylation and transsulfuration pathways. This is to ensure that adequate levels of glutathione are produced to counteract oxidative stress as well as ensure that an adequate amount of SAM is made for methylation reactions. In the presence of increased oxidative stress, more homocysteine is used for glutathione production because oxidative stress induces enzymes in the transsulfuration pathway. Also, transsulfuration is induced by higher levels of intracellular SAM. Therefore, poor methylation status (Methylation Balance Ratio and SAM/ SAH Ratio) may be a risk for low glutathione production. As with the Methylation Balance ratio, the Met/Sulf ratio is based solely on biochemical pathway analysis. However, early Genova data analysis of this biomarker has demonstrated its ability to distinguish a healthy cohort from an unqualified cohort. Genova will continue to conduct ongoing research on this novel biomarker's clinical application.

- Balanced Shifted to Methylation
 - Look at Methylation Balance and SAM/SAH ratios; consider methylation support to correct low methylation status
 - Vitamin B₆, especially if high homocysteine (consider adding vitamin B₃ if high SAH levels)
 - Evaluate whether high protein intake or high BMI could be contributing to elevated methylation metabolites
- Balance Shifted to Transsulfuration
 - May be a consequence of high levels of methyl products or potential "over-methylation"
 - » Look at SAM/SAH ratio and Methylation Balance Ratio
- May be due to adequate methylation status and increased oxidative stress
 - Reduce exposure to oxidative stress
 - Support with antioxidants

	LOW	HIGH
SAM/SAH	 Poor methylation status Consider 5-MTHF, vitamin B₁₂, or SAM-e Consider Mg, Zn support Consider betaine supplementation 	 Consequence of high BMI Consequence of high protein intake Potential over-methylation (evaluate supplementation)
Methylation Balance Ratio	 Poor methylation status likely Consider 5-MTHF, B₁₂ Consider B₆, Mg, iron (With high Met/Sulf) Evaluate oxidative stress and consider antioxidant support 	 Consequence of high BMI Consequence of high protein intake Potential over-methylation (evaluate supplementation) MTR or BHMT SNPs
Met/Sulf Ratio	 Potential high oxidative stress Ensure adequate methylation status Decrease oxidative stress exposure 	 Consider B₆, Mg, iron Consider antioxidant support CBS SNP May be consequence of high SAM/SAH Evaluate oxidative stress and consider antioxidant support Consider glutathione if needed

Betaine/Choline Ratio

As outlined previously, betaine and choline can be obtained from the diet or synthesized de novo. Choline is a lipotrope, in that it helps to mobilize fat from the liver.¹³¹ Phosphatidylcholine, a derivative, is required for the production of hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein and the mobilization of fat from the liver. Therefore, choline deficiency can result in fatty liver and liver abnormalities.¹³²

In the methylation cycle, choline is oxidized to form betaine to donate methyl groups for many pathways. One of these pathways is the synthesis of phosphatidylcholine using the enzyme phosphatidylethanolamine N-methyltransferase (PEMT).¹³² With this, the interplay between betaine and choline has shown clinical significance. In spite of helping to mobilize fat from the liver, elevated plasma choline is positively associated with elevated triglycerides, glucose, BMI, body fat, and waist circumference. Plasma betaine is negatively associated with the majority of these risk factors.¹³³

Literature has demonstrated that a low betaine/choline ratio is associated with many of the signature features of metabolic syndrome such as dyslipidemia, dysglycemia, and increased BMI. Therefore, it may serve as a useful independent biomarker of worsening metabolic function. Furthermore, supplementation with betaine may assist in correcting some of these metabolic concerns and should be considered with low plasma betaine levels.



Folate Cycle

As mentioned previously, in the methylation cycle, homocysteine is remethylated to form methionine, and ultimately SAM. The main route of Hcy remethylation requires methylated folate (5-MTHF). The folate pathway is responsible for creating 5-MTHF from dietary folate. 5-MTHF is the predominant circulating folate in serum. Other non-circulating forms of folate precursors (i.e. 5,10-MTHF) are mainly found intracellularly, rather than in serum. These other forms of folate are vital in DNA synthesis and replication. Therefore, a delicate balance exists between the folate cycle and methylation pathway.^{134,135}

Folate, Folic Acid, and Folinic Acid

Folate (vitamin B₉) is a water soluble vitamin found in many foods, such as green leafy vegetables, asparagus, root vegetables, and beets.¹³⁶ Folate is also produced by certain commensal gut bacteria (*Bifidobacterium*).¹³⁷ Folic acid is the synthetic form often found in supplements and many fortified foods. Folate and folic acid must be converted to tetrahydrofolate to be used in biochemical reactions. Folinic acid is a reduced form of folate (also known as leucovorin calcium).¹³⁸

In the diet, folates exist as polyglutamates. These need to be enzymatically converted into folate monoglutamates in the jejunal mucosa in order to be absorbed. In comparison, Folic acid used in supplements is two-fold better absorbed than dietary folates in the intestine.¹³⁹ Neither folate nor folic acid are biologically active until they are converted in the liver to dihydrofolate (DHF). DHF is then converted to tetrahydrofolate (THF) using the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) which can finally enter the folate cycle. Folinic acid can readily enter the folate cycle without being reduced by DHFR.¹⁴⁰

DHFR has relatively low and variable activity in the liver which sets up the possibility that high intake of folic acid may result in elevated levels of unmetabolized folic acid in the blood stream. Recently, some clinicians have expressed concerns around the use of folic acid in dietary supplements and fortification. The concern is not around an excess of folates per se, but that high levels of folic acid could result in high levels of unmetabolized folic acid in the blood. Because the DHFR enzyme has low activity in humans, the competition for receptor binding may be potentially relevant.¹⁴¹

The debate whether unmetabolized folic acids levels contribute to disease is ongoing and literature is varied.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁶ For example, a recent study aimed at finding an association between colorectal adenoma and UMFA's actually found that the increased risk was more likely related to higher levels of plasma methylated folate and not due to unmetabolized folic acid.¹⁴² Another study



showed that increased UMFA's may reduce natural killer cell cytotoxicity, however the study was limited and was not associated with health outcomes.¹⁴³ It is clear, that with the program of folic acid fortification and increased folic acid supplementation in the United States, UMFA detection has become nearly ubiquitous and the health impact of UMFA needs to be further investigated.¹⁴⁵

The eventual conversion of THF to 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate (5,10, MTHF) is a crucial step in the folate cycle. A methyl group from serine is transferred to THF using the SHMT enzyme to form 5,10 MTHF and glycine.⁴⁶ This reaction is reversible and favored for nucleotide synthesis based on methylation demand. Methylation demand takes precedence over purine synthesis.¹³⁵

5,10-MTHF is a branch point in the cycle. The direction it takes depends on methylation demand. Methyltetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) is an enzyme which irreversibly converts 5,10 MTHF to 5-MTHF, the main form of circulating folate in the plasma.⁸⁰ This enzymatic conversion essentially commits folate to the methylation cycle for SAM synthesis, at the expense

of purine and pyrimidine synthesis. With this, SAM can act as a negative feedback to MTHFR by slowing 5-MTHF creation and allowing folate to be used for DNA replication and repair. Cell culture studies have shown that under low folate conditions, the methionine cycle is metabolically favored.¹⁴⁷ SAM production ultimately takes priority. Using SAM (along with vitamins B_2 and B_3) the enzyme methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) is able to reduce vitamin B_{12} and make it available as a cofactor for the MTR enzyme.



To remethylate Hcy to methionine, 5-MTHF donates a methyl group, with vitamin B_{12} and zinc as cofactors, using the enzyme methionine synthase (MTR). When 5-MTHF loses its methyl group, it then becomes tetrahydrofolate (THF). In order for this reaction to take place, vitamin B_{12} must be in its reduced, not oxidized form.

If there is direct or functional vitamin B_{12} deficiency, MTR cannot convert Hcy to methionine, nor can it return 5-MTHF to THF for use in the folate cycle. Multiple factors can lead to functional B_{12} deficiency, such as genetic polymorphism and alcohol intake, therefore clinicians should be aware that supplementation with methylated folate may be ineffective for patients with poor B_{12} status.



DNA Methylation

There is extensive research regarding methylation defects and clinical outcomes. Many outcome studies involve DNA hypo- and hyper-methylation.^{56,148-150} Genova's Methylation Panel does not directly evaluate DNA methylation, however, abnormalities in the methylation cycle and the SAM:SAH ratio are comparable, and tightly linked to DNA methylation regulation and epigenetics.²²

DNA methylation is a mechanism used by cells to turn genes on or off (epigenetics). DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group to the DNA strand itself, often to the fifth carbon atom on a cytosine ring. DNA methylation is catalyzed by enzymes called DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), and takes place along a gene's promotor region referred to as "CpG Islands." When the CpG island is methylated, it is associated with repressing transcription (turning off the gene), whereas an un-methylated CpG island is associated with transcriptional activity (turning on the gene).^{3,151}



Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs)

The Methylation Panel evaluates SNPs in several enzymes involved in the methylation cycle, folate pathway, and transsulfuration. Any SNP's clinical implication depends on the patient population studied, and often shows significant ethnic variance.

Genotypic SNPs do not always translate to phenotypic expression. SNPs represent genetic predispositions which are not always clinically manifested.

On the Methylation Panel, if an enzymatic SNP is present, abnormal biomarker results near that enzyme may reflect an enzymatic SNP abnormality. However, due to the interconnected nature of the methylation, folate, and transsulfuration cycles, abnormalities can be due to many factors unrelated to the SNP.



As with many SNPs, there is a degree of ethnic variation in prevalence. For each SNP, data is provided regarding SNP prevalence based on population studies using the latest information from NCBI dbSNP. The population categories are abbreviated as:

Population frequency data is from 1000 GENOMES project as sourced from NCBI dbSNP. The population categories are listed below:

EUR (European): Americans with Northern and Western European Ancestry, Toscani, Finnish, British, Spanish

EAS (East Asian): Han Chinese (Beijing), Japanese (Tokyo), Southern Han Chinese, Chinese Dai, Kinh (Vietnam)

AFR (African): Nigerian, Kenyan, Gambian, Mendi (Sierra Leone), African Americans, African Caribbeans

AMR (Ad Mixed American): Mexican, Puerto Rican, Colombian, Peruvian

SAS (South Asian): Americans of Gujarati descent (India), Punjabi (Pakistan), Bengali (Bangladesh), Sri Lankan/Indian in UK

Betaine-homocysteine S-methyltransferase (BHMT)

rs: 3733890 G742A

Upregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



The BHMT enzyme is critically important to the methylation cycle because it directly converts Hcy back into methionine, using betaine as a methyl donor. When there is low folate availability for Hcy transmethylation, the zinc-dependent BMHT pathway actively provides the necessary methyl donors.⁸⁵ In this way, BHMT acts as a backup pathway in folate deficiency to ensure SAM production and methylation capacity.¹⁷ The end-product of BHMT methylation is DMG, which is mostly converted to sarcosine. Therefore, elevated DMG and sarcosine levels are sometimes used as indicators of BHMT activation and betaine utilization.

Elevated SAM acts to inhibit this enzyme in a negative feedback mechanism to spare betaine and choline for other metabolic pathways.¹⁷

The G742A SNP increases BHMT enzyme activity. Due to the SNPs effects on the enzyme kinetics, there is an increased affinity for betaine to be used in Hcy remethylation. Upregulation of BHMT may lead to lower levels of homocysteine as well as less dependency on folate and vitamin B_{12} as methyl donors.

Because this BHMT polymorphism results in increased activity, research suggests that this SNP is protective against many of the clinical conditions related to elevated homocysteine and folate deficiency.

This polymorphism has been associated with reduced all-cause mortality in breast cancer and decreased birth defect risk.^{86,87,152,153}

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	48%	41%	11%
EAS	52%	41%	7%
AFR	55%	41%	4%
AMR	32%	52%	16%
SAS	52%	43%	5%

G742A

Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT)

rs: 4680 V158M

Downregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) is a key enzyme involved in the deactivation of catechol compounds, including catecholamines, catechol estrogens, catechol drugs such as L-DOPA, and various chemicals and toxins such as aryl hydrocarbons.

COMT SNPs result in decreased enzyme activity. Individuals with COMT SNPs may have an increased risk of inefficient methylation of catecholamines, estrogens, and toxins. ^{154,155}

The most common genotype of COMT in most populations is heterozygous (+/-). Individuals with a homozygous positive (+/+) genotype have a 3-4 fold reduction in COMT activity, leading to a significant predisposition for poor methylation. COMT polymorphisms have been implicated in mood disorders such as anxiety, panic disorder, and eating disorders. ^{156,157} Other mood disturbances have also been documented in the literature such as aggressiveness, anger, alcoholism, and severity of bipolar disorder. ¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰ Fibromyalgia and migraines have also been associated with COMT SNPs. ^{161,162}

COMT is critical for phase 2 detoxification of estrogens. Therefore, decreased activity via genomic polymorphism has been implicated in breast cancer risk, particularly in women with prolonged estrogen exposure,^{163,164} or in women with low folate and high homocysteine.¹⁶⁵ COMT SNPS have been shown to correlate with higher estrogen levels in patients on estrogen replacement therapy.¹⁶⁶

V185M

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	22%	53%	25%
EAS	43%	47%	10%
AFR	46%	45%	9%
AMR	54%	37%	8%
SAS	37%	41%	22%

Cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS) **C699T**

rs234706

Upregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS) is the enzyme responsible for Hcy's irreversible conversion to cystathionine. In the general population, when excess methionine and SAM are present, CBS will be upregulated leading to an increase in transsulfuration. This causes an increase in homocysteine conversion to cystathionine. On the other hand, when methionine and SAM are scarce, CBS will be less active and methionine synthase will be upregulated. With this, more homocysteine will be remethylated to replenish methionine and S-adenosylmethionine levels.⁶²

A SNP in this enzyme further upregulates CBS favoring transsulfuration. Genetically, there are nearly 200 known SNPs for CBS. The C699T SNP is relatively common.

Most literature reflects that the CBS C699T SNP upregulates Hcy metabolism, thereby lowering Hcy levels after a methionine load.^{78,79} Homozygous C699T individuals are also more responsive to folate supplementation used to lower Hcy levels.¹⁶⁷ One study did show that the SNP slowed down the CBS enzyme in Chinese populations, causing Hcy elevation and increased breast cancer risk.¹⁶⁸ The discrepancy in these findings highlight the fact that different populations have variable prevalence and clinical relevance of individual SNPs.

Despite the lack of agreement on enzyme activity, multiple studies demonstrate clinical associations with the C699T polymorphism. These include:

- Reduced risk of lymphoma¹⁶⁹
- Reduced risk of venous disease^{170,171}
- Protective effects against deep vein thrombosis¹⁷⁰
- Decreased risk of coronary artery disease¹⁶⁷

Ammonia is a major transsulfuration pathway byproduct. Theoretically, accelerating this pathway (CBS SNP) can increase ammonia, though urea cycle clearance makes this unlikely. Though often guoted by several methylation experts, there is no literature to support hyperammonemia as a result of upregulation by this CBS SNP.

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	42%	48%	10%
EAS	95%	5%	<1%
AFR	59%	33%	8%
AMR	72%	25%	3%
SAS	44%	46%	10%

C699T

Glycine N-methyltransferase (GNMT)

rs: 10948059 C1289T

Upregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Glycine n-methyltransferase (GNMT) is an enzyme which plays a very important role in removing excess SAM that is synthesized during periods of elevated methionine and SAM levels. It catalyzes the methyl group transfer from SAM to glycine, ultimately forming sarcosine. This SAM removal process is down-regulated in response to low 5-MTHF and SAM levels.

GNMT is a key regulator in SAM/SAH metabolism, and it regulates genes related to liver detoxification and antioxidation pathways.¹⁷² This may play a role in the increased cancer risk demonstrated in homozygous negative individuals and in animal models. The GNMT polymorphism does not change Hcy levels at baseline. However, after folate restriction, Hcy levels increase. This is most evident in patients with the MTHFR C667T genotype. Folate supplementation can mitigate the effects of this SNP.¹⁰⁰

In European populations, GNMT was found to be a tumor susceptibility gene for prostate cancer.¹⁷² It was recently reported that sarcosine, which is regulated by GNMT, increased markedly in metastatic prostate cancer, though that literature is mixed.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶

C1289T

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	29%	47%	24%
EAS	70%	28%	2%
AFR	23%	43%	34%
AMR	50%	44%	6%
SAS	36%	47%	17%

Methionine adenosyltransferase 1A (MAT1A)

rs3851059 D18777A

Downregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT) is the enzyme that catalyzes methionine's conversion to SAM. The MAT enzyme is highly conserved and regulated. The D18777A MAT1A SNP downregulates the enzyme's activity, decreasing SAM production.

Although the D18777A MAT 1A SNP is fairly prevalent, there is very little literature regarding MAT SNPs and clinical outcomes. Some studies do show an impact in elevating Hcy levels, resulting in cardiovascular disease.¹⁷³ Additionally, this MAT SNP has been implicated in the inability to lower Hcy levels with vitamin B₆ supplementation.¹⁷³

Omega-3 fatty acids are cardio-protective and have been shown to decrease Hcy, though literature has been inconsistent. Fish oil supplementation modifies plasma fatty acid profiles and decreases total VLDL triglyceride concentrations. However, there is concern as to whether omega-3 fatty acids increase LDL susceptibility to oxidation in some patients.¹⁷⁴ The relationship between omega-3 fatty acids and plasma Hcy is not yet fully understood. One study looked at enzyme activity and gene expression to explain the disparity. It showed that higher dietary fat intake is associated with significantly higher Hcy levels in patients with the D18777A SNP.¹⁷⁵ This supports a hypothesis that the MAT1A genotype may modulate polyunsaturated fatty acids' regulatory effect on Hcy metabolism.

Another study looked at the association between MAT1A variants as they relate to cardiovascular disease and stroke. The D18777A MAT SNP showed significantly higher stroke rates. The findings suggest that methylation activity impairment, independent of Hcy levels, have an effect on cardiovascular risk.¹⁷³

D18777A

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)	
EUR	50%	43%	7%	
EAS	36%	48%	16%	
AFR	62%	34%	4%	
AMR	52%	40%	8%	
SAS	42%	45%	13%	

Methionine synthase (MTR)

rs: 180587 A2756G

Potential Upregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Methionine synthase (MTR) is the enzyme responsible for Hcy recycling back to methionine. This enzymatic conversion requires using 5-MTHF (folate) as a methyl donor, and activated vitamin B₁₂ (methylcobalamin) as a catalyst.¹¹ Therefore, adequate Hcy remethylation is dependent on both methylated folate and methylcobalamin.

An additional enzyme, methionine synthase reductase (MTRR), is responsible for maintaining activated (reduced) B_{12} levels. Consequently, a unique enzymatic relationship between MTR, MTHFR, and MTRR is essential in Hcy remethylation.

The A2756G polymorphism is the most common MTR SNP discussed in literature.

Most literature suggests that the MTR A2756G polymorphism may increase enzyme activity, which would enhance Hcy's conversion to methionine, leading to lower Hcy levels.¹¹ There are a few studies which suggest that this SNP results in lower activity causing Hcy elevation and DNA hypomethylation.¹⁷⁶ Variance in these studies may be due to the interconnectedness of MTHFR, MTR, MTRR, and the complexity of epigenetic lifestyle factors. However, in general, it is accepted that this SNP upregulates MTR and lowers Hcy levels.¹¹

Studies looking at this MTR SNP's clinical associations across various populations reveal congenital birth defects such as spina bifida, cleft lip/palette, and cardiac defects.¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹There are a large number of epidemiologic studies on MTR polymorphisms' role in cancer risk, though much of it is still controversial.^{176,180,181}

A2756G

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	69%	30%	1%
EAS	72%	25%	3%
AFR	47%	42%	11%
AMR	65%	33%	2%
SAS	42%	47%	11%

Methionine synthase reductase (MTRR)

rs: 1801394 A66G

Downregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



As mentioned previously, **methionine synthase reductase (MTRR)** is a critical enzyme in Hcy's remethylation back to methionine. MTRR functions to maintain MTR activity by reducing oxidized cobalamin to be used as a cofactor.¹⁸²

SNPs in MTRR result in decreased enzyme activity, and therefore a decreased capacity to recycle oxidized cobalamin (vitamin B_{12}). This decreased enzyme activity can affect methylation capacity by limiting the amount of active B_{12} available for homocysteine conversion.¹⁸²

The most commonly studied polymorphism is the A66G mutation. The A66G SNP has been shown to result in elevations of Hcy, independent of serum folate, vitamin B_{12} , and vitamin B_6 levels.⁸¹

The A66G polymorphism is the most common studied MTRR SNP. It has been associated with numerous clinical conditions, such as various cancers, birth defects, metabolic syndrome, mood disorder, and elevated homocysteine.¹⁸³⁻¹⁸⁵ The A66G polymorphism has also been shown to correlate with global DNA hypomethylation, which is a direct marker for methylation impairment.

Population studies show SNP prevalence may depend on ethnicity. This should be taken into account when addressing clinical associations, since clinical significance varies between populations. For example, a meta-analysis conducted on an Iranian population demonstrated no association between MTRR SNPs and colorectal cancer, which was in contradiction to associations found in a Czech Republic population, which did demonstrate risk.^{186,187}

In spite of the population variances, SNPs in MTRR have been implicated in many diseases as mentioned previously.

A66G

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)	
EUR	38%	34%	28%	
EAS	54%	37%	9%	
AFR	59%	36%	5%	
AMR	26%	57%	17%	
SAS	-	-	-	

Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR)

rs: 1801133 C677T

Downregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP

rs: 1801131 A1298C

Downregulation only with Homozygous SNP



Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) is

a key regulatory enzyme in folate and homocysteine metabolism. It converts 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate to 5, methyltetrahydrofolate (5-MTHF), which donates a methyl group for homocysteine conversion back to methionine. Therefore, the enzyme commits 5,10-MTHF to homocysteine metabolism and methionine formation, instead of nucleotide synthesis.¹⁸⁸

MTHFR polymorphisms result in reduced enzyme activity, thus a decreased ability to remethylate Hcy back to methionine.

Because methylated folate (5-MTHF) is also an important coenzyme in DNA synthesis, a SNP in the MTHFR enzyme may be clinically significant in cancer development.¹⁸⁸ MTHFR SNPs do not guarantee methylation defects, only a genetic predisposition. Gene expression is highly dependent on epigenetic influences such as diet, smoking, and alcohol consumption.

Two common genetic variations have received the most attention in scientific literature: MTHFR C677T and A1289C

C677T

The C677T polymorphism downregulates enzymatic activity, resulting in a predisposition to lower serum folate (5-MTHF) and higher homocysteine.¹⁸⁹

Genetic	MTHFR	MTHFR	MTHFR
Polymorphic	677 C/C	677 C/T	677 T/T
Variation		- +	++
Physiologic Action	Baseline "normal" MTHFR activity ¹⁹⁰	Moderately decreased MTHFR activity (30-40%) ¹⁹⁰	Substantially decreased MTHFR activity (60-70%) ¹⁹⁰

MTHFR's inability to catalyze the conversion of 5,10-MTHF to 5-MTHF leads to a rise in Hcy levels. Furthermore, homozygous C677T subjects have higher Hcy levels, while heterozygous subjects have Hcy levels only mildly raised compared to controls.¹⁹¹

MTHFR C677T SNPs have been associated with many disease processes including:

- Cardiovascular disease¹⁹²⁻²⁰⁰
- Depression²⁰¹ and schizophrenia²⁰²
- Increased risk of birth defects²⁰³⁻²⁰⁶ and Down's syndrome
- Psoriasis
- Diabetes
- Parkinson's disease
- Various cancers¹⁹¹

This SNP's prevalence is highly variable, depending on the ethnicity and location.

C677T

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	47%	44%	9%
EAS	37%	47%	16%
AFR	81%	19%	<1%
AMR	32%	52%	16%
SAS	68%	30%	2%

A1298C

The A1298C SNP mutation does not significantly affect folate or homocysteine levels.²⁰⁷ However, a combined heterozygosity for both 677T and 1298C mutations does result in significant plasma homocysteine elevation.^{207,208}

Genetic Polymorphic Variation	MTHFR 1298 A/A 	MTHFR 1298 A/C - +	MTHFR 1298 C/C + +
Physiologic	Baseline	Baseline	Moderately
Action	"normal"	"normal"	decreased
	MTHFR	MTHFR	MTHFR
	activity ¹⁹⁰	activity	activity
		unless 677CT	(30-40%) ¹⁹⁰
		genotype also	
		present (40-	
		50% reduced	
		activity) ¹⁹⁰	

MTHFR A1298C SNPs have been associated with many disease processes including:

- Cardiovascular disease²⁰⁹⁻²¹¹
- Male infertility^{212,213}
- Increased risk of birth defects²⁰⁶
- Certain cancer types²¹⁴⁻²¹⁶

MTHFR SNPs (both C677T and A1298C) have been associated with many disease processes including cardiovascular disease, Down's syndrome, infertility, neural tube defects, psoriasis, diabetes, Parkinson's disease, and many cancer types.¹⁹¹ The main factor in disease association appears to be Hcy elevation.¹⁹¹ Supplementation with methylated folate and folate-rich foods may help lower Hcy and mitigate risk.²¹⁷

Serine hydroxymethyltransferase 1 (SHMT1)

rs: 1979277 C1420T

Downregulation with Hetero/Homozygous SNP



Serine hydroxymethlytransferase (SHMT) is an enzyme that is critical to the folate cycle. It regulates the availability of 5,10-MTHF to act as a substrate for MTHFR. The enzyme uses serine as a methyl donor; serine then becomes glycine. This enzyme is bidirectional. It constantly balances the needs for methylation substrates versus tetrahydrofolate (THF), which is vital for nucleotide synthesis.²¹⁸

SHMT is a vitamin B_6 -dependent enzyme, and gives metabolic priority to nucleotide synthesis over SAM synthesis.²¹⁹ This is why it is implicated not only in disturbances in the methylation cycle, but also in cancer.²¹⁹

The C1420T polymorphism in SHMT1 downregulates the enzyme and creates an imbalance within the folate cycle. This adversely affects DNA synthesis, methylation systems, and causes genome instability. It eventually leads to oncogene overexpression and tumor suppressor gene inactivation.^{219,220} Additionally, the polymorphism can cause reduced circulating folate (5-MTHF) levels and increased homocysteine.²¹⁸

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	43%	45%	12%
EAS	63%	33%	4%
AFR	78%	21%	1%
AMR	62%	34%	4%
SAS	39%	44%	17%

C1420T

Population	Wild Wild (-/-)	Wild Variant (-/+)	Variant Variant (+/+)
EUR	45%	43%	12%
EAS	87%	13%	<1%
AFR	33%	47%	20%
AMR	59%	41%	<1%
SAS	-	-	-

A1298C



Energy Production

Detoxification

References

- Barić I, Staufner C, Augoustides-Savvopoulou P, et al. Consensus recommendations for the diagnosis, treatment and followup of inherited methylation disorders. J Inher Metab Dis. 2017;40(1):5-20.
- 2. Locasale JW. Serine, glycine and one-carbon units: cancer metabolism in full circle. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13(8):572.
- 3. Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA methylation and its basic function. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2013;38(1):23.
- 4. Brosnan JT, Jacobs RL, Stead LM, Brosnan ME. Methylation demand: a key determinant of homocysteine metabolism. ACTA BIOCHIM POL. 2004;51:405-414.
- 5. Smazal AL. Oral S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) mediates disruptions in methyl group metabolism due to retinoic acid therapy and alters neurotransmitter metabolism: Implications for major depressive disorder, Iowa State University; 2013.
- 6. Lawson BR, Eleftheriadis T, Tardif V, et al. Transmethylation in immunity and autoimmunity. Clin Immunol. 2012;143(1):8-21.
- Abu-Lebdeh HS, Barazzoni R, Meek SE, Bigelow ML, Persson X-MT, Nair KS. Effects of insulin deprivation and treatment on homocysteine metabolism in people with type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(9):3344-3348.
- 8. Schalinske KL, Smazal AL. Homocysteine imbalance: a pathological metabolic marker. Adv Nutr. 2012;3(6):755-762.
- Mudd SH, Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME, et al. Methyl balance and transmethylation fluxes in humans–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;85(1):19-25.
- 10. Anderson OS, Sant KE, Dolinoy DC. Nutrition and epigenetics: an interplay of dietary methyl donors, one-carbon metabolism and DNA methylation. J Nutr Biochem. 2012;23(8):853-859.
- 11. Ho V, Massey TE, King WD. Effects of methionine synthase and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphisms on markers of one-carbon metabolism. Genes Nutr. 2013;8(6):571-580.
- Cuskelly GJ, Stacpoole PW, Williamson J, Baumgartner TG, Gregory III JF. Deficiencies of folate and vitamin B6 exert distinct effects on homocysteine, serine, and methionine kinetics. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2001;281(6):E1182-E1190.
- Obeid R, Herrmann W. Homocysteine and lipids: S-adenosyl methionine as a key intermediate. FEBS letters. 2009;583(8):1215-1225.
- 14. Duncan TM, Reed MC, Nijhout HF. A population model of folate-mediated one-carbon metabolism. Nutrients. 2013;5(7):2457-2474.
- Poirier LA, Wise CK, Delongchamp RR, Sinha R. Blood determinations of S-adenosylmethionine, S-adenosylhomocysteine, and homocysteine: correlations with diet. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2001;10(6):649-655.
- Caudill MA, Wang JC, Melnyk S, et al. Intracellular S-Adenosylhomocysteine Concentrations Predict Global DNA Hypomethylation in Tissues of Methyl-Deficient Cystathionine β-Synthase Heterozygous Mice. J Nutr. 2001;131(11):2811-2818.
- 17. Obeid R. The metabolic burden of methyl donor deficiency with focus on the betaine homocysteine methyltransferase pathway. Nutrients. 2013;5(9):3481-3495.
- Mato JM, Martínez-Chantar ML, Lu SC. S-adenosylmethionine metabolism and liver disease. Ann Hepatol. 2015;12(2):183-189.
- Xiao Y, Su X, Huang W, et al. Role of S-adenosylhomocysteine in cardiovascular disease and its potential epigenetic mechanism. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2015;67:158-166.

- 20. Kerins DM, Koury MJ, Capdevila A, Rana S, Wagner C. Plasma S-adenosylhomocysteine is a more sensitive indicator of cardiovascular disease than plasma homocysteine–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;74(6):723-729.
- 21. Wagner C, Koury MJ. S-Adenosylhomocysteine—a better indicator of vascular disease than homocysteine?–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86(6):1581-1585.
- 22. Davis CD, Uthus EO. DNA methylation, cancer susceptibility, and nutrient interactions. Exp Biol Med. 2004;229(10):988-995.
- 23. Bottiglieri T. S-Adenosyl-L-methionine (SAMe): from the bench to the bedside--molecular basis of a pleiotrophic molecule. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;76(5):1151s-1157s.
- 24. Elshorbagy A, Jernerén F, Samocha-Bonet D, Refsum H, Heilbronn L. Serum S-adenosylmethionine, but not methionine, increases in response to overfeeding in humans. Nutr Diab. 2016;6(1):e192.
- Elshorbagy AK, Nijpels G, Valdivia-Garcia M, et al.
 S-Adenosylmethionine Is Associated with Fat Mass and Truncal Adiposity in Older Adults. J Nutr. 2013;143(12):1982-1988.
- 26. van Driel LMJW, Eijkemans MJC, de Jonge R, et al. Body Mass Index Is an Important Determinant of Methylation Biomarkers in Women of Reproductive Ages. J Nutr. 2009;139(12):2315-2321.
- Inoue-Choi M, Nelson HH, Robien K, et al. One-carbon metabolism nutrient status and plasma S-adenosylmethionine concentrations in middle-aged and older Chinese in Singapore. Int J Mol Epidemiol Gen. 2012;3(2):160-173.
- Williams A-I, Girard C, Jui D, Sabina A, Katz DL.
 S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) as treatment for depression: a systematic review. Clin Investig Med. 2005;28(3):132.
- 29. Anstee QM, Day CP. S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) therapy in liver disease: A review of current evidence and clinical utility. J Hepatol. 2012;57(5):1097-1109.
- Papakostas GI, Cassiello CF, Iovieno N. Folates and S-adenosylmethionine for major depressive disorder. Can J Psych. 2012;57(7):406-413.
- Hosea Blewett HJ. Exploring the mechanisms behind S-adenosylmethionine (SAMe) in the treatment of osteoarthritis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2008;48(5):458-463.
- 32. Mahmood N, Cheishvili D, Arakelian A, et al. Methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) supplementation attenuates breast cancer growth, invasion, and metastasis in vivo; therapeutic and chemopreventive applications. Oncotarget. 2018;9(4):5169.
- Shea TB, Chan A. S-adenosyl methionine: a natural therapeutic agent effective against multiple hallmarks and risk factors associated with Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2008;13(1):67-70.
- 34. Mischoulon D, Fava M. Role of S-adenosyl-L-methionine in the treatment of depression: a review of the evidence. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;76(5):1158S-1161S.
- 35. Hao X, Huang Y, Qiu M, et al. Immunoassay of S-adenosylmethionine and S-adenosylhomocysteine: the methylation index as a biomarker for disease and health status. BMC Res Notes. 2016;9(1):498.
- 36. Berigan TR. A Case Report of a Manic Episode Triggered by S-Adenosylmethionine (SAMe). Prim Care Companion J Clin Psych. 2002;4(4):159-159.
- 37. Schmidt JA, Rinaldi S, Scalbert A, et al. Plasma concentrations and intakes of amino acids in male meat-eaters, fish-eaters,

vegetarians and vegans: a cross-sectional analysis in the EPIC-Oxford cohort. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2016;70(3):306-312.

- Mudd SH. Hypermethioninemias of genetic and nongenetic origin: A review. Am J Med Gen C Semin Med Gen. 2011;157c(1):3-32.
- Chien Y-H, Abdenur JE, Baronio F, et al. Mudd's disease (MAT I/ III deficiency): a survey of data for MAT1A homozygotes and compound heterozygotes. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2015;10(1):99.
- Bertolo RF, McBreairty LE. The nutritional burden of methylation reactions. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2013;16(1):102-108.
- 41. Avila MA, Corrales FJ, Ruiz F, et al. Specific interaction of methionine adenosyltransferase with free radicals. Biofactors. 1998;8(1-2):27-32.
- Lu SC, Martinez-Chantar ML, Mato JM. Methionine adenosyltransferase and S-adenosylmethionine in alcoholic liver disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;21 Suppl 3:S61-64.
- 43. Sanders LM, Zeisel SH. Choline: dietary requirements and role in brain development. Nutrition today. 2007;42(4):181.
- 44. Ueland PM. Choline and betaine in health and disease. J Inher Metab Dis. 2011;34(1):3-15.
- 45. Lever M, Slow S. The clinical significance of betaine, an osmolyte with a key role in methyl group metabolism. Clin Biochem. 2010;43(9):732-744.
- Kalhan SC, Hanson RW. Resurgence of serine: an often neglected but indispensable amino Acid. J Biologic Chem. 2012;287(24):19786-19791.
- Amelio I, Cutruzzolá F, Antonov A, Agostini M, Melino G. Serine and glycine metabolism in cancer. Trends Biochem Sci. 2014;39(4):191-198.
- 48. Kapalka GM. Nutritional and Herbal Therapies for Children and Adolescents. Academic Press; 2010.
- 49. Yi P, Melnyk S, Pogribna M, Pogribny IP, Hine RJ, James SJ. Increase in plasma homocysteine associated with parallel increases in plasma S-adenosylhomocysteine and lymphocyte DNA hypomethylation. J Biol Chemistry. 2000;275(38):29318-29323.
- 50. James SJ, Melnyk S, Pogribna M, Pogribny IP, Caudill MA. Elevation in S-Adenosylhomocysteine and DNA Hypomethylation: Potential Epigenetic Mechanism for Homocysteine-Related Pathology. J Nutr. 2002;132(8):2361S-2366S.
- 51. Chang PY, Lu SC, Chen CH. S-adenosylhomocysteine: a better marker of the development of Alzheimer's disease than homocysteine? J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;21.
- 52. Xiao Y, Zhang Y, Wang M, et al. Plasma S-adenosylhomocysteine is associated with the risk of cardiovascular events in patients undergoing coronary angiography: a cohort study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98(5):1162-1169.
- 53. Capdevila A, Burk RF, Freedman J, Frantzen F, Alfheim I, Wagner C. A simple rapid immunoassay for S-adenosylhomocysteine in plasma. J Nutr Biochem. 2007;18(12):827-831.
- 54. Chang PY, Lu SC, Chen CH. S-adenosylhomocysteine: a better marker of the development of Alzheimer's disease than homocysteine? J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;21(1):65-66.
- 55. Garibotto G, Valli A, Anderstam B, et al. The kidney is the major site of S-adenosylhomocysteine disposal in humans. Kidney Int. 2009;76(3):293-296.
- 56. Wilson AS, Power BE, Molloy PL. DNA hypomethylation and human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA). 2007;1775(1):138-

162.

- Guerra-Shinohara EM, Morita OE, Pagliusi RA, Blaia-d'Avila VL, Allen RH, Stabler SP. Elevated serum S-adenosylhomocysteine in cobalamin-deficient megaloblastic anemia. Metabolism. 2007;56(3):339-347.
- 58. Green TJ, Skeaff CM, McMahon JA, et al. Homocysteine-lowering vitamins do not lower plasma S-adenosylhomocysteine in older people with elevated homocysteine concentrations. Br J Nutr. 2010;103(11):1629-1634.
- Stabler SP, Allen RH, Dolce ET, Johnson MA. Elevated serum S-adenosylhomocysteine in cobalamin-deficient elderly and response to treatment–. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;84(6):1422-1429.
- 60. Turner MA, Yang X, Yin D, Kuczera K, Borchardt RT, Howell PL. Structure and function of S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase. Cell Biochem Biophys. 2000;33(2):101-125.
- 61. Castro R, Rivera I, Blom HJ, Jakobs C, Tavares de Almeida I. Homocysteine metabolism, hyperhomocysteinaemia and vascular disease: an overview. J Inher Metab Dis. 2006;29(1):3-20.
- 62. Stabler SP, Lindenbaum J, Savage DG, Allen RH. Elevation of serum cystathionine levels in patients with cobalamin and folate deficiency. Blood. 1993;81(12):3404-3413.
- 63. Williams KT, Schalinske KL. New insights into the regulation of methyl group and homocysteine metabolism. J Nutr. 2007;137(2):311-314.
- 64. Poirier LA, Brown AT, Fink LM, et al. Blood S-adenosylmethionine concentrations and lymphocyte methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase activity in diabetes mellitus and diabetic nephropathy. Metabolism. 2001;50(9):1014-1018.
- 65. Oussalah A, Guéant JL, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Meta-analysis: hyperhomocysteinaemia in inflammatory bowel diseases. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34(10):1173-1184.
- 66. Behera J, Bala J, Nuru M, Tyagi SC, Tyagi N. Homocysteine as a pathological biomarker for bone disease. J Cell Physiol. 2017;232(10):2704-2709.
- 67. Gariballa S. Testing homocysteine-induced neurotransmitter deficiency, and depression of mood hypothesis in clinical practice. Age Ageing. 2011;40(6):702-705.
- 68. Jankovic J. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psych. 2008;79(4):368-376.
- 69. Obeid R, Schadt A, Dillmann U, Kostopoulos P, Fassbender K, Herrmann W. Methylation status and neurodegenerative markers in Parkinson disease. Clin Chem. 2009;55(10):1852-1860.
- Popp J, Lewczuk P, Linnebank M, Cvetanovska G, Smulders Y, Kölsch H. Homocysteine metabolism and cerebrospinal fluid markers for Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2009;18.
- 71. Kevere L, Purvina S, Bauze D, et al. Elevated serum levels of homocysteine as an early prognostic factor of psychiatric disorders in children and adolescents. Schizophr Res Treatment. 2012;2012:373261.
- 72. Hei G, Pang L, Chen X, et al. [Association of serum folic acid and homocysteine levels and 5, 10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphism with schizophrenia]. Zhonghua yi xue za zhi. 2014;94(37):2897-2901.
- 73. Wald DS, Bishop L, Wald NJ, et al. Randomized trial of folic acid supplementation and serum homocysteine levels. Arch Int Med. 2001;161(5):695-700.

- 74. Cullen CE, Carter GT, Weiss MD, Grant PA, Saperstein DS. Hypohomocysteinemia: a potentially treatable cause of peripheral neuropathology? Phys Med Rehab Clin. 2012;23(1):59-65.
- 75. Ohuchi S, Matsumoto Y, Morita T, Sugiyama K. High-casein diet suppresses guanidinoacetic acidinduced hyperhomocysteinemia and potentiates the hypohomocysteinemic effect of serine in rats. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2008;72(12):3258-3264.
- 76. Kawakami Y, Ohuchi S, Morita T, Sugiyama K. Hypohomocysteinemic effect of cysteine is associated with increased plasma cysteine concentration in rats fed diets low in protein and methionine levels. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2009;55(1):66-74.
- 77. Plasma Homocyst(e)ine or Homocysteine? New Engl J Med. 1995;333(5):325-325.
- DeStefano Vea. Linkage disequilibrium at the cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS) locus and the association between genetic variation at the CBS locus and plasma levels of homocysteine. Ann Human Genet. 1998;62(6):481-490.
- 79. Aras Ö, Hanson N, Yang F, Tsai M. Influence of 699C>T and 1080C> T polymorphisms of the cystathionine β-synthase gene on plasma homocysteine levels. Clin Genet. 2000;58(6):455-459.
- 80. Blom HJ, Smulders Y. Overview of homocysteine and folate metabolism. With special references to cardiovascular disease and neural tube defects. J Inher Metab Dis. 2011;34(1):75-81.
- 81. Gaughan DJ, Kluijtmans LA, Barbaux S, et al. The methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) A66G polymorphism is a novel genetic determinant of plasma homocysteine concentrations. Atherosclerosis. 2001;157(2):451-456.
- van der Gaag MS, Ubbink JB, Sillanaukee P, Nikkari S, Hendriks HF. Effect of consumption of red wine, spirits, and beer on serum homocysteine. Lancet. 2000;355(9214):1522.
- 83. O'Callaghan P, European Cg, Meleady R, et al. Smoking and plasma homocysteine. Eur Heart J. 2002;23(20):1580-1586.
- Kendall RV, Lawson JW. Recent findings on N, N-dimethylglycine (DMG): a nutrient for the new millennium. Townsend Letter for Doctors and Patients. 2000:75-85.
- 85. Gu HF, Zhang X. Zinc Deficiency and Epigenetics. 2017.
- Shaw GM, Lu W, Zhu H, et al. 118 SNPs of folate-related genes and risks of spina bifida and conotruncal heart defects. BMC Med Genet. 2009;10:49.
- 87. da Costa KA, Corbin KD, Niculescu MD, Galanko JA, Zeisel SH. Identification of new genetic polymorphisms that alter the dietary requirement for choline and vary in their distribution across ethnic and racial groups. Faseb j. 2014;28(7):2970-2978.
- 88. Strzelecki D, Podgorski M, Kaluzynska O, et al. Supplementation of Antipsychotic Treatment with the Amino Acid Sarcosine Influences Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Parameters in Left Frontal White Matter in Patients with Schizophrenia. Nutrients. 2015;7(10):8767-8782.
- Luka Z, Mudd SH, Wagner C. Glycine N-methyltransferase and regulation of S-adenosylmethionine levels. J Biol Chem. 2009; jbc. R109. 019273.
- 90. Lee M-Y, Lin Y-R, Tu Y-S, Tseng YJ, Chan M-H, Chen H-H. Effects of sarcosine and N, N-dimethylglycine on NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory field potentials. J Biomed Sci. 2017;24(1):18.
- 91. Frontiers in Neuroscience. In: Van Dongen AM, ed. Biology of the NMDA Receptor. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press/Taylor & Francis

Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.; 2009.

- 92. Kemp JA, McKernan RM. NMDA receptor pathways as drug targets. Nat Neurosci. 2002;5:1039.
- Hashimoto K. Glycine transporter inhibitors as therapeutic agents for schizophrenia. Recent Pat CNS Drug Discov. 2006;1(1):43-53.
- 94. Lucarelli G, Fanelli M, Larocca AMV, et al. Serum sarcosine increases the accuracy of prostate cancer detection in patients with total serum PSA less than 4.0 ng/ml. Prostate. 2012;72(15):1611-1621.
- 95. Jentzmik F, Stephan C, Miller K, et al. Sarcosine in Urine after Digital Rectal Examination Fails as a Marker in Prostate Cancer Detection and Identification of Aggressive Tumours. Eur Urol. 2010;58(1):12-18.
- 96. Sreekumar A, Poisson LM, Rajendiran TM, et al. Metabolomic profiles delineate potential role for sarcosine in prostate cancer progression. Nature. 2009;457(7231):910.
- 97. Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, et al. Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, 4 Volume Set. McGraw-Hill Professional Publishing; 2000.
- 98. Allen RH, Stabler SP, Lindenbaum J. Serum betaine, N, N-dimethylglycine and N-methylglycine levels in patients with cobalamin and folate deficiency and related inborn errors of metabolism. Metabolism. 1993;42(11):1448-1460.
- 99. Wang W, Wu Z, Dai Z, Yang Y, Wang J, Wu G. Glycine metabolism in animals and humans: implications for nutrition and health. Amino acids. 2013;45(3):463-477.
- Beagle B, Yang TL, Hung J, Cogger EA, Moriarty
 Jacobsen DW. Biochemistry and metabolism. In: Homocysteine and vascular disease. Springer; 2000:15-39.
- McCarty MF, O'Keefe JH, DiNicolantonio JJ. Dietary Glycine Is Rate-Limiting for Glutathione Synthesis and May Have Broad Potential for Health Protection. Ochsner J. 2018;18(1):81-87.
- 102. Beagle B, Yang TL, Hung J, Cogger EA, Moriarty DJ, Caudill MA The glycine N-methylatransferase (GNMT) 1289 C-T variant influences plasma total homocysteine concentrations in young women after restricting folate intake. TJ Nutr. 2005;135(12):2780-2785.
- 103. Maclean KN, Greiner LS, Evans JR, et al. Cystathionine protects against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced lipid accumulation, tissue injury, and apoptotic cell death. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(38):31994-32005.
- Stabler S, et al. Elevation of serum cystathionine levels in patients with cobalamin and folate deficiency. Blood. 1993;81(12):3404-3413
- 105. Wu X-Y, Lu L. Vitamin B6 deficiency, genome instability and cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2012;13(11):5333-5338.
- Larsson SC, Håkansson N, Wolk A. Dietary cysteine and other amino acids and stroke incidence in women. Stroke. 2015;46(4):922-926.
- 107. Lyons J, Rauh-Pfeiffer A, Yu Y, et al. Blood glutathione synthesis rates in healthy adults receiving a sulfur amino acid-free diet. Pro Nat Acad Sci. 2000;97(10):5071-5076.
- Stipanuk MH, Ueki I. Dealing with methionine/homocysteine sulfur: cysteine metabolism to taurine and inorganic sulfur. J Inher Metab Dis. 2011;34(1):17-32.
- 109. Stipanuk MH, Coloso RM, Garcia RAG, Banks MF. Cysteine Concentration Regulates Cysteine Metabolism to Glutathione, Sulfate and Taurine in Rat Hepatocytes. J Nutr. 1992;122(3):420-427.

- 110. Hayes K. Taurine requirement in primates. Nutr Rev. 1985;43(3):65-70.
- 111. Wojcik OP, Koenig KL, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Costa M, Chen Y. The potential protective effects of taurine on coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis. 2010;208(1):19-25.
- 112. Ripps H, Shen W. Taurine: a "very essential" amino acid. Mol Vis. 2012;18:2673.
- 113. Vanitha M, Baskaran K, Periyasamy K, et al. A review on the biomedical importance of taurine. Int J Pharm Res Health Sci. 2015;3(3):680-686.
- 114. Schaffer SW, Jong CJ, Ito T, Azuma J. Effect of taurine on ischemia–reperfusion injury. Amino acids. 2014;46(1):21-30.
- 115. Ripps H, Shen W. Taurine: a "very essential" amino acid. Mol Vis. 2012;18:2673.
- 116. Hayes K. Taurine requirement in primates. Nutr Rev. 1985;43(3):65-70.
- 117. Townsend DM, Tew KD, Tapiero H. The importance of glutathione in human disease. Biomed Pharmacother. 2003;57(3-4):145-155.
- 118. Lu SC. GLUTATHIONE SYNTHESIS. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1830(5):3143-3153.
- 119. Wu G, Fang Y-Z, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND. Glutathione Metabolism and Its Implications for Health. J Nutr. 2004;134(3):489-492.
- Hagen TM, Wierzbicka GT, Sillau A, Bowman BB, Jones DP. Bioavailability of dietary glutathione: effect on plasma concentration. Am J Physiol-Gastroint Liver Physiol. 1990;259(4):G524-G529.
- 121. Jones DP, Coates RJ, Flagg EW, et al. Glutathione in foods listed in the National Cancer Institute's health habits and history food frequency questionnaire. 1992.
- 122. Sinha R, Sinha I, Calcagnotto A, et al. Oral supplementation with liposomal glutathione elevates body stores of glutathione and markers of immune function. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018;72(1):105-111.
- 123. Richie JP, Jr., Nichenametla S, Neidig W, et al. Randomized controlled trial of oral glutathione supplementation on body stores of glutathione. Eur J Nutr. 2015;54(2):251-263.
- 124. Marsit CJ, Christensen BC. Epigenomics in environmental health. Front Genet. 2011;2:84.
- 125. Alegría-Torres JA, Baccarelli A, Bollati V. Epigenetics and lifestyle. Epigenomics. 2011;3(3):267-277.
- 126. Kharbanda KK. Alcoholic liver disease and methionine metabolism. Seminars Liver Dis. 2009;29(2):155-165.
- 127. Zakhari S. Alcohol Metabolism and Epigenetics Changes. Alc Res : Curr Rev. 2013;35(1):6-16.
- 128. Sugden C. One-carbon metabolism in psychiatric illness. Nutr Res Rev. 2006;19(1):117-136.
- Isa Y, Tsuge H, Hayakawa T. Effect of vitamin B6 deficiency on S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase activity as a target point for methionine metabolic regulation. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2006;52(5):302-306.
- Jacobsen DW. Biochemistry and metabolism. In: Homocysteine and vascular disease. Springer; 2000:15-39
- 131. Zeisel SH, Blusztajn JK. Choline and human nutrition. Annu Rev Nutr. 1994;14:269-296.
- 132. Yan J, Winter LB, Burns-Whitmore B, Vermeylen F, Caudill MA. Plasma choline metabolites associate with metabolic stress among young overweight men in a genotype-specific manner. Nutrition &Amp; Diabetes. 2012;2:e49.
- 133. Konstantinova SV, Tell GS, Vollset SE, Nygard O, Bleie Ø,

Ueland PM. Divergent associations of plasma choline and betaine with components of metabolic syndrome in middle age and elderly men and women. J Nutrition. 2008;138(5):914-920.

- 134. Wernimont SM, Raiszadeh F, Stover PJ, et al. Polymorphisms in Serine Hydroxymethyltransferase 1 and Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase Interact to Increase Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Humans. J Nutr. 2011;141(2):255-260.
- 135. Herbig K, Chiang E-P, Lee L-R, Hills J, Shane B, Stover PJ. Cytoplasmic serine hydroxymethyltransferase mediates competition between folate-dependent deoxyribonucleotide andS-adenosylmethionine biosyntheses. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(41):38381-38389.
- 136. Mahmood L. The metabolic processes of folic acid and Vitamin B12 deficiency. J Health Res Rev. 2014;1(1):5.
- Pompei A, Cordisco L, Amaretti A, Zanoni S, Matteuzzi D, Rossi M. Folate production by bifidobacteria as a potential probiotic property. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007;73(1):179-185.
- Frye RE, Slattery JC, Quadros EV. Folate metabolism abnormalities in autism: potential biomarkers. Biomark Med. 2017;11(8):687-699.
- Milman N. Intestinal absorption of folic acid new physiologic & molecular aspects. Indian J Med Res. 2012;136(5):725-728.
- 140. Frye RE, Slattery J, Delhey L, et al. Folinic acid improves verbal communication in children with autism and language impairment: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Mol Psych. 2018;23(2):247-256.
- 141. Wiens D, DeSoto MC. Is High Folic Acid Intake a Risk Factor for Autism?-A Review. Brain Sci. 2017;7(11):149.
- 142. Rees JR, Morris CB, Peacock JL, et al. Unmetabolized Folic Acid, Tetrahydrofolate, and Colorectal Adenoma Risk. Cancer Prev Res. 2017;10(8):451-458.
- 143. Paniz C, Bertinato JF, Lucena MR, et al. A Daily Dose of 5 mg Folic Acid for 90 Days Is Associated with Increased Serum Unmetabolized Folic Acid and Reduced Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity in Healthy Brazilian Adults. J Nutr. 2017;147(9):1677-1685.
- 144. Cho E, Zhang X, Townsend MK, et al. Unmetabolized Folic Acid in Prediagnostic Plasma and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer. J Nat Cancer Inst. 2015;107(12):djv260-djv260.
- 145. Pfeiffer CM, Sternberg MR, Fazili Z, et al. Unmetabolized folic acid is detected in nearly all serum samples from US children, adolescents, and adults. J Nutr. 2015;145(3):520-531.
- Obeid R. Serum Unmetabolized Folic Acid: The Straw That Broke Dihydrofolate Reductase's Back? J Nutr. 2015;145(3):387-390.
- 147. Herbig K, Chiang EP, Lee LR, Hills J, Shane B, Stover PJ. Cytoplasmic serine hydroxymethyltransferase mediates competition between folate-dependent deoxyribonucleotide and S-adenosylmethionine biosyntheses. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(41):38381-38389.
- 148. Duthie SJ. Folic acid deficiency and cancer: mechanisms of DNA instability. Br Med Bull. 1999;55(3):578-592.
- Grayson DR, Guidotti A. The dynamics of DNA methylation in schizophrenia and related psychiatric disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2013;38(1):138.
- 150. Niculescu MD, Zeisel SH. Diet, methyl donors and DNA methylation: interactions between dietary folate, methionine

and choline. J Nutr. 2002;132(8):2333S-2335S.

- 151. Razin A. CpG methylation, chromatin structure and gene silencing-a three-way connection. EMBO journal. 1998;17(17):4905-4908.
- 152. Boyles AL, Billups AV, Deak KL, et al. Neural tube defects and folate pathway genes: family-based association tests of gene-gene and gene-environment interactions. Environ Health Perspect. 2006;114(10):1547-1552.
- Mostowska A, Hozyasz KK, Wojcicki P, Dziegelewska M, Jagodzinski PP. Associations of folate and choline metabolism gene polymorphisms with orofacial clefts. J Med Genet. 2010;47(12):809-815.
- 154. Lachman HM, Papolos DF, Saito T, Yu YM, Szumlanski CL, Weinshilboum RM. Human catechol-Omethyltransferase pharmacogenetics: description of a functional polymorphism and its potential application to neuropsychiatric disorders. Pharmacogenetics. 1996;6(3):243-250.
- 155. Mannisto PT, Kaakkola S. Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT): biochemistry, molecular biology, pharmacology, and clinical efficacy of the new selective COMT inhibitors. Pharmacol Rev. 1999;51(4):593-628.
- Woo JM, Yoon KS, Yu BH. Catechol O-methyltransferase genetic polymorphism in panic disorder. AmJPsychiatry. 2002;159(10):1785-1787.
- 157. Donofry SD, Roecklein KA, Wildes JE, Miller MA, Flory JD, Manuck SB. COMT met allele differentially predicts risk versus severity of aberrant eating in a large community sample. Psych Res. 2014;220(1-2):513-518.
- 158. Rujescu D, Giegling I, Gietl A, Hartmann AM, Moller HJ. A functional single nucleotide polymorphism (V158M) in the COMT gene is associated with aggressive personality traits. Biolog Psych. 2003;54(1):34-39.
- 159. Tiihonen K, Ouwehand AC, Rautonen N. Effect of overweight on gastrointestinal microbiology and immunology: correlation with blood biomarkers. Br J Nutr. 2010;103(7):1070-1078.
- 160. Papolos DF, Veit S, Faedda GL, Saito T, Lachman HM. Ultraultra rapid cycling bipolar disorder is associated with the low activity catecholamine-O-methyltransferase allele. Mol Psychiatry. 1998;3(4):346-349.
- 161. Gursoy S, Erdal E, Herken H, Madenci E, Alasehirli B, Erdal N. Significance of catechol-O-methyltransferase gene polymorphism in fibromyalgia syndrome. RheumatolInt. 2003;23(3):104-107.
- 162. Emin Erdal M, Herken H, Yilmaz M, Bayazit YA. Significance of the catechol-O-methyltransferase gene polymorphism in migraine. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 2001;94(1-2):193-196.
- 163. Huang CS, Chern HD, Chang KJ, Cheng CW, Hsu SM, Shen CY. Breast cancer risk associated with genotype polymorphism of the estrogen-metabolizing genes CYP17, CYP1A1, and COMT: a multigenic study on cancer susceptibility. Cancer Res. 1999;59(19):4870-4875.
- 164. Lavigne JA, Helzlsouer KJ, Huang HY, et al. An association between the allele coding for a low activity variant of catechol-O-methyltransferase and the risk for breast cancer. Cancer Res. 1997;57(24):5493-5497.
- 165. Goodman JE, Lavigne JA, Wu K, et al. COMT genotype, micronutrients in the folate metabolic pathway and breast cancer risk. Carcinogenesis. 2001;22(10):1661-1665.

- 166. Worda C, Sator MO, Schneeberger C, Jantschev T, Ferlitsch K, Huber JC. Influence of the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) codon 158 polymorphism on estrogen levels in women. Hum Reprod. 2003;18(2):262-266.
- 167. Kruger WD, Evans AA, Wang L, et al. Polymorphisms in the CBS gene associated with decreased risk of coronary artery disease and increased responsiveness to total homocysteine lowering by folic acid. Mol Genet Metab. 2000;70(1):53-60.
- 168. Wu X, Zou T, Cao N, et al. Plasma homocysteine levels and genetic polymorphisms in folate metablism are associated with breast cancer risk in chinese women. Hered Cancer Clin Pract. 2014;12(1):2.
- 169. Li Q, Lan Q, Zhang Y, et al. Role of One-carbon Metabolizing Pathway Genes and Gene-Nutrient Interaction in the Risk of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. Cancer Causes Control. 2013;24(10):1875-1884.
- Ayala C, Garcia R, Cruz E, Prieto K, Bermudez M.
 [Homocysteine levels and polymorphisms of MTHFR and CBS genes in Colombian patients with superficial and deep venous thrombosis]. Biomedica. 2010;30(2):259-267.
- 171. Hendrix P, Foreman PM, Harrigan MR, et al. Association of cystathionine beta-synthase polymorphisms and aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg. 2017:1-7.
- 172. Chen M, Huang YL, Huang YC, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of the glycine N-methyltransferase and prostate cancer risk in the health professionals follow-up study. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e94683.
- 173. Lai CQ, Parnell LD, Troen AM, et al. MAT1A variants are associated with hypertension, stroke, and markers of DNA damage and are modulated by plasma vitamin B-6 and folate. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;91(5):1377-1386.
- 174. Piolot A, Blache D, Boulet L, et al. Effect of fish oil on LDL oxidation and plasma homocysteine concentrations in health. J Lab Clin Med. 2003;141(1):41-49.
- 175. Huang T, Tucker K, Lee Y, et al. MAT1A variants modulate the effect of dietary fatty acids on plasma homocysteine concentrations. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2012;22(4):362-368.
- Hosseini M. Role of polymorphism of methyltetrahydrofolate-homocysteine methyltransferase (MTR) A2756G and breast cancer risk. Polish J Pathol. 2013;64(3):191-195.
- 177. Wang W, Jiao XH, Wang XP, Sun XY, Dong C. MTR, MTRR, and MTHFR Gene Polymorphisms and Susceptibility to Nonsyndromic Cleft Lip With or Without Cleft Palate. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers. 2016;20(6):297-303.
- 178. Klerk M, Lievers KJ, Kluijtmans LA, et al. The 2756A>G variant in the gene encoding methionine synthase: its relation with plasma homocysteine levels and risk of coronary heart disease in a Dutch case-control study. Thrombosis Res. 2003;110(2-3):87-91.
- 179. Doolin MT, Barbaux S, McDonnell M, Hoess K, Whitehead AS, Mitchell LE. Maternal genetic effects, exerted by genes involved in homocysteine remethylation, influence the risk of spina bifida. Am J Hum Genet. 2002;71(5):1222-1226.
- Bleich S, Semmler A, Frieling H, et al. Genetic variants of methionine metabolism and DNA methylation. Epigenomics. 2014;6(6):585-591.

- 181. Jiang-hua Q, De-chuang J, Zhen-duo L, Shu-de C, Zhenzhen L. Association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and methionine synthase polymorphisms with breast cancer risk and interaction with folate, vitamin B 6, and vitamin B 12 intakes. Tumor Biol. 2014;35(12):11895-11901. 182.
- 182. Olteanu H, Munson T, Banerjee R. Differences in the efficiency of reductive activation of methionine synthase and exogenous electron acceptors between the common polymorphic variants of human methionine synthase reductase. Biochemistry. 2002;41(45):13378-13385.
- 183. Jamerson BD, Payne ME, Garrett ME, Ashley-Koch AE, Speer MC, Steffens DC. Folate metabolism genes, dietary folate and response to antidepressant medications in late-life depression. Int J Geriat Psych. 2013;28(9):925-932.
- 184. Hassan FM, Khattab AA, Abo El Fotoh WMM, Zidan RS. A66G and C524T polymorphisms of methionine synthase reductase gene are linked to the development of acyanotic congenital heart diseases in Egyptian children. Gene. 2017;629:59-63.
- 185. Guo QN, Wang HD, Tie LZ, et al. Parental Genetic Variants, MTHFR 677C>T and MTRR 66A>G, Associated Differently with Fetal Congenital Heart Defect. BioMed Res Intl. 2017;2017:3043476.
- 186. Haerian MS, Haerian BS, Molanaei S, et al. MTRR rs1801394 and its interaction with MTHFR rs1801133 in colorectal cancer: a case-control study and meta-analysis. Pharmacogenomics. 2017;18(11):1075-1084.
- 187. Pardini B, Kumar R, Naccarati A, et al. MTHFR and MTRR genotype and haplotype analysis and colorectal cancer susceptibility in a case-control study from the Czech Republic. Mutation Res. 2011;721(1):74-80.
- Izmirli M. A literature review of MTHFR (C677T and A1298C polymorphisms) and cancer risk. Molec Biol Rep. 2013;40(1):625-637.
- 189. Li W-X, Dai S-X, Zheng J-J, Liu J-Q, Huang J-F. Homocysteine metabolism gene polymorphisms (MTHFR C677T, MTHFR A1298C, MTR A2756G and MTRR A66G) jointly elevate the risk of folate deficiency. Nutrients. 2015;7(8):6670-6687.
- 190. Weisberg IS, Jacques PF, Selhub J, et al. The 1298A-->C polymorphism in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR): in vitro expression and association with homocysteine. Atherosclerosis. 2001;156(2):409-415.
- Liew S-C, Gupta ED. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism: epidemiology, metabolism and the associated diseases. Eur J Med Genet. 2015;58(1):1-10.
- 192. Zhang P, Gao X, Zhang Y, et al. Association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and venous thromboembolism risk in the Chinese population: a meta-analysis of 24 casecontrolled studies. Angiology. 2015;66(5):422-432.
- 193. Bozok Cetintas V, Gunduz C. Association between polymorphism of MTHFR c.677C>T and risk of cardiovascular disease in Turkish population: a meta-analysis for 2.780 cases and 3.022 controls. Mol Biol Rep. 2014;41(1):397-409.
- 194. Li YY. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T gene polymorphism and coronary artery disease in a Chinese Han population: a meta-analysis. Metabolism. 2012;61(6):846-852.
- 195. Wald DS, Morris JK, Wald NJ. Reconciling the evidence on serum homocysteine and ischaemic heart disease: a meta-

analysis. PloS one. 2011;6(2):e16473.

- 196. Niu WQ, You YG, Qi Y. Strong association of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene C677T polymorphism with hypertension and hypertension-inpregnancy in Chinese: a meta-analysis. J Hum Hypertens. 2012;26(4):259-267.
- 197. Wu YL, Hu CY, Lu SS, et al. Association between methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T/ A1298C polymorphisms and essential hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Metabolism. 2014;63(12):1503-1511.
- 198. Yang KM, Jia J, Mao LN, et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T gene polymorphism and essential hypertension: A meta-analysis of 10,415 subjects. Biomed Rep. 2014;2(5):699-708.
- Cui T. MTHFR C677T mutation increased the risk of lschemic Stroke, especially in large-artery atherosclerosis in adults: an updated meta-analysis from 38 researches. Int J Neurosci. 2015.
- 200. Zhang W, Wang Y, Bi G. Quantitative assessment of association between rs1801133 polymorphism and susceptibility to stroke. Cell Biochem Biophys. 2015;71(1):85-98.
- 201. Wu YL, Ding XX, Sun YH, et al. Association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and depression: An updated metaanalysis of 26 studies. Progress Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psych. 2013;46:78-85.
- 202. Hu CY, Qian ZZ, Gong FF, et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) polymorphism susceptibility to schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: an updated metaanalysis. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2015;122(2):307-320.
- 203. Wang Y, Liu Y, Ji W, et al. Variants in MTHFR gene and neural tube defects susceptibility in China. Metab Brain
- 204. Yadav U, Kumar P, Yadav SK, Mishra OP, Rai V. "Polymorphisms in folate metabolism genes as maternal risk factor for neural tube defects: an updated meta-analysis". Metab Brain Dis. 2015;30(1):7-24.
- 205. Wang W, Wang Y, Gong F, Zhu W, Fu S. MTHFR C677T polymorphism and risk of congenital heart defects: evidence from 29 case-control and TDT studies. PloS one. 2013;8(3):e58041.
- 206. Xuan C, Li H, Zhao JX, et al. Association between MTHFR polymorphisms and congenital heart disease: a metaanalysis based on 9,329 cases and 15,076 controls. Scientif Rep. 2014;4:7311.
- 207. Isotalo PA, Wells GA, Donnelly JG. Neonatal and fetal methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphisms: an examination of C677T and A1298C mutations. Am J Hum Genet. 2000;67(4):986-990.
- 208. van der Put NM, Gabreels F, Stevens EM, et al. A second common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene: an additional risk factor for neural-tube defects? Am J Hum Genet. 1998;62(5):1044-1051.
- 209. Kang S, Wu Y, Liu L, Zhao X, Zhang D. Association of the A1298C polymorphism in MTHFR gene with ischemic stroke. J Clin Neurosci. 2014;21(2):198-202.
- 210. Lv Q, Lu J, Wu W, Sun H, Zhang J. Association of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene A1298C polymorphism with stroke risk based on a meta-analysis. Genet Mol Res. 2013;12(4):6882-6894.

- 211. Zhang, MJ, Hu ZC, Yin YW, et al. A meta-analysis of the relationship between MTHFR gene A1298C polymorphism and the risk of adult stroke. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2014;38(6):425-432.
- 212. Eloualid A, Abidi O, Charif M, et al. Association of the MTHFR A1298C variant with unexplained severe male infertility. PloS one. 2012;7(3):e34111.
- 213. Shen O, Liu R, Wu W, Yu L, Wang X. Association of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene A1298C polymorphism with male infertility: a meta-analysis. Ann Hum Genet. 2012;76(1):25-32.
- 214. Qi X, Sun X, Xu J, Wang Z, Zhang J, Peng Z. Associations between methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms and hepatocellular carcinoma risk in Chinese population. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(3):1757-1762.
- 215. Qi YH, Yao LP, Cui GB, et al. Meta-analysis of MTHFR C677T and A1298C gene polymorphisms: association with the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2014;38(2):172-180.
- 216. Qin X, Peng Q, Chen Z, et al. The association between MTHFR gene polymorphisms and hepatocellular carcinoma risk: a meta-analysis. PloS one. 2013;8(2):e56070.
- 217. Zhao M, Wang X, He M, et al. Homocysteine and Stroke Risk: Modifying Effect of Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase C677T Polymorphism and Folic Acid Intervention. Stroke. 2017;48(5):1183-1190.
- 218. Lightfoot TJ, Skibola CF, Willett EV, et al. Risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma associated with polymorphisms in folatemetabolizing genes. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2005;14(12):2999-3003.
- 219. Choi S-W, Mason JB. Folate and Carcinogenesis: An Integrated Scheme. J Nutr. 2000;130(2):129-132.
- 220. Zijno A, Andreoli C, Leopardi P, et al. Folate status, metabolic genotype, and biomarkers of genotoxicity in healthy subjects. Carcinogenesis. 2003;24(6):1097-1103.



Learn more at **www.gdx.net** or call **800.522.4762**